

NEONICOTINOID INSECTICIDES AND BATS An assessment of the direct and indirect risks

Pierre Mineau and Carolyn Callaghan

Photo credit: Sherri and Brock Fenton

Acknowledgments

In preparing this assessment, we have benefitted from the many individuals who have been 'tracking' the neonicotinoid issue over the years and helping us keep up with the voluminous amount of scientific material that has been generated. **Graham White, Susan Kegley, Peter Jenkins and Francisco (Paco) Sanchez-Bayo** immediately come to mind but there are many others who, knowingly or unknowingly have helped greatly. The Task Force on Systemic Pesticides convened by **Maarten Bijleveld van Lexmond** under the auspices of the Species Survival Commission and the Commission on Ecosystem Management of the International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN) deserves a lot of credit for their reviews as well as their efforts to engage in meaningful discussion with politicians, bureaucrats and civil society on the impacts of neonics and systemic insecticides more generally. We thank **Brock Fenton** for the use of his photos and for his decades of commitment to research on bats. **Mike Anissimoff** provided helpful comments from Paco Sanchez-Bayo, **Anne Secord, Kathleen Patnode**, and **Casrten Brühl** for helpful and constructive critiques of an earlier version of this report.

Citation: Mineau, P. and C. Callaghan 2018. Neonicotinoid insecticides and bats: an assessment of the direct and indirect risks. Canadian Wildlife Federation. 87 pp.

Table of Contents

List of Acronyms	4
Acknowledgments	6
1. Introduction	7
2. Aspects of Bat Biology Relevant to this Review	10
2.1 Bats as Generalist Predators	12
2.2. Food Habitat of Bats in Agricultural Landscapes	14
2.3 Ecosystem Services	17
3. Assessing the Indirect Effects of Pesticides on Bats	19
3.1 The Evidence for Insect Declines	19
3.2 Importance of Aquatic Insects to Bats	20
3.3 Indirect Effects of Neonicotinoids on Bats	21
3.3.1 The Risk Case for the Involvement of Neonicotinoids in Insect Declines	21
3.3.2 The Developing Evidence for Bona Fide Impacts from Neonicotinoid Insecticides	24
4. Assessing the Direct Effects of Neonicotinoid Insecticides on Bats	27
4.1 Framework for a Proposed Bat-centric Risk Assessment	27
4.2 Pesticides and Bats	28
4.3 Canadian Application Rates of the Neonicotinoid Insecticides of Concern	30
4.4 Pesticide Residues in Insects	31
4.4.1 Residues after a Foliar Application	31
4.4.2 Neonicotinoid Residues in Bees	35
4.4.3 Residues in Insects after a Seeding Operation	36
4.4.4 Neonicotinoid Residues in Insects not Associated with Recent Applications.	37
4.4.5 Choosing Reasonable Residue Values for Risk Assessment Purposes	37
4.5 Estimating the Daily Consumption of Insects by Bats	38
4.6 Effect Levels from Toxicological Studies	39
4.6.1 Imidacloprid	41
4.6.2 Thiamethoxam	44
4.6.3 Clothianidin	45
4.6.4 Acetamiprid	46
4.6.5 Thiacloprid	47
4.7 Summary of Proposed Toxicity Reference Values for Bat Risk Assessment Purposes	48
4.7.1 Immune System Effects	48
4.8 Summarizing the Elements of the Direct Risk Assessment	50
4.9. Uncertainties Associated with a Bat-centric Assessment	53
5. Conclusions	55
Literature Cited	57
Appendix I	73
Appendix II	76
Appendix III	78
Appendix IV	80
Appendix V	82

List of Acronyms

ai	Active ingredient. When used with an application rate, refers to the quantity of 'pure' (technical grade purity) pesticide applied, calculated from the concentration of 'pure' material in the numerous pesticide formulations.
Bt	Bacillus thuringiensis
BW	Body weight
CESCC	Canadian Endangered Species Conservation Council
CaDPR	California Department of Pesticide Regulation
Cal EPA	California Environmental Protection Agency
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
EC	European Commission
ECOFRAM	Ecological Committee on FIFRA Risk Assessment Methods
EFSA	European Food Safety Authority
EU	European Union
FIFRA	Federal Insecticide, Fungicide and Rodenticide Act (US)
FMR	Field Metabolic Rate
IUCN	International Union for the Conservation of Nature
LD50	Lethal Dose 50; the median lethal dose; the dose required to kill half the members of a tested population after a specified test duration.
LOAEL	Lowest Observed Adverse Effect Level; lowest dose at which there was an observed toxic or adverse effect.
mRNA	Messenger Ribonucleic Acid
NOAEL	No Observed Adverse Effect Level; highest dose at which there was not an observed toxic or adverse effect
OMAFRA	Ontario Ministry of Agriculture Food and Rural Affairs
OP	Organophosphates
PMRA	Canadian Pest Management Regulatory Agency
ppm	Parts per million
RQ	Risk Quotient. The ratio of a point estimate of exposure and a point estimate of effect. Exposure is calculated from estimated environmental concentrations on foodstuffs as well as feeding rates. Toxicity refers to an effect level obtained from toxicity testing (e.g. LD50 or NOAEL).
RUD	Residue per Unit Dose. Residue levels (usually on plant or insect prey) standardised to a common pesticide application rate, usually 1 lb a.i./acre (US) or 1 kg a.i./hectare (Canada, Europe)
SARA	Species at Risk Act

- **TIM** Terrestrial Investigation Model (USEPA)
- **TRex** Terrestrial Residue EXposure (T-REX) model; USEPA program to calculate risk (RQs) to wild birds and mammals from residues on avian and mammalian food items given single or multiple applications of a pesticide.
- UK United Kingdom
- **US** United States of America
- **USEPA** US Environmental Protection Agency
- WIA Worldwide Integrated Assessment on the Impact of Systemic Pesticides on Biodiversity and Ecosystems; convened under the auspices of the Species Survival Commission and the Commission on Ecosystem Management of the IUCN.



Tri-coloured bat, one of three bat species listed as Endangered in Canada. Photo credit: Sherri and Brock Fenton.

Introduction

A major shift has taken place in agriculture, specifically in the way we carry out pest control. The last two decades have seen an unprecedented rise in the use of systemic insecticides – products that permeate every part of plants (either crop or non-crop species in field borders), including leaves, stems, roots, pollen, and nectar. The use of these products differs from other pesticides, in that they are being used on a prophylactic basis, whether the pest population has reached a threshold of damage or not. This is particularly true for crops grown from treated seed.

The largest class of systemic insecticides are the neonicotinoid insecticides (neonics for short). They are the most widely used insecticides in the world. The case has been made that the ubiquitous use of neonicotinoids, their high invertebrate toxicity and resulting wide-scale contamination of surface waters (because of their physico-chemical characteristics) could lead to a depletion of invertebrate food sources generally. This depletion of invertebrates could potentially extend far beyond the farm fields to entire watersheds (Mineau and Palmer 2013; Morrissey *et al.* 2015). A depletion of insect prey due to widespread and systemic use of pesticides such as neonics could impact insectivores such as bats.

Although the acute toxicity of neonicotinoid insecticides to vertebrate species is far less than that of some of its predecessors (e.g. Organophosphates (OP) and carbamate insecticides) the systemic nature of the products, their long persistence in soil, and their overuse mean that exposure could be much more prolonged. This raises questions about the possible effects of sub-chronic and chronic pesticide exposure – questions that were seldom raised with older, shorter-lived products.

As comprehensively reviewed by Jones *et al.* (2009), bats appear to be declining worldwide. This is worrisome because for centuries bats were diverse and abundant globally and they provide key ecosystem services, such as insect control in agricultural regions. A number of possible factors for these declines were reviewed by Jones *et al.* (2009), including climate change and weather extremes, habitat and landscape changes such as deforestation and agricultural intensification (e.g. loss of hedgerows and increased use of pesticides), contaminants, hunting, and disease. These authors argue that bats are ideal bio-indicators of environmental quality.

In scoping what would and would not be feasible for this review, it became clear that attempting to match geographically explicit population trends to agricultural stressors such as pesticide use was not within the realm of possibilities. Bats are difficult to census and very few bat population assessments have been carried out and only for the most common species. Fortunately, censusing methods such as bio-acoustical recording have greatly expanded the scope of possible research and, as governments and conservation groups become more organised (e.g. Loeb *et al.* 2015) this limitation may eventually disappear, but probably not for many years.

Although there are many threats to bat populations globally, a fungal disease known as Pseudogymnoascus destructans (formerly Geomyces destructans) or white-nose syndrome has dominated the conservation agenda as well as the public consciousness. In the past decade, approximately 12 million bats in the United States and Canada have died from white-nose syndrome. It was discovered in North America in 2006 and was most likely spread by human activity between Europe and North America. White-nose syndrome has devastated populations of the Little Brown Myotis (Myotis lucifugus), once the most common bat in North America, now listed as Endangered in Canada. Two other bat species have been listed as Endangered in Canada under the Species at Risk Act due to white-nose syndrome: Northern Myotis (Myotis septentrionalis) and Tri-coloured Bat (Perimyotis subflavus).

Eskew and Todd (2013) drew a parallel between the impacts of white-nose syndrome on bats and another dermatophytic fungus currently advancing through North America – the chytrid fungus Batratrachochytrium dentrobatidis in frogs. Both fungal pathogens appear to be recent introductions that are host-generalists and which appear to have abiotic reservoirs that ensure their environmental persistence outside of a host. These authors point to life-cycle characteristics in both bats and amphibians that encourage infectivity, namely seasonally-high densities and rates of contact as well as depressed immune function brought about by hibernation.

Rather than seeing the two fungal diseases as a mere temporal coincidence, Mason et al. (2013) hypothesized that neonicotinoid insecticides might be at the root of these disease problems through their effects on immune function. In their provocative paper, they pointed also to other recent infective agents, namely ranaviruses in frogs as well as Mycoplasma gallisepticum, Trichomonas gallinae, Suttonella ornithocola and other pathogens newly found in North American and European songbird species. They based their case on the temporal coincidence of these parasitic diseases with the concomitant explosion in the use of neonicotinoid insecticides, the geographical correspondence between the first documented chytrid and ranavirus infections in California with the presence of agricultural lands upwind of infected regions, and the finding of an association between fish ectoparasites and imidacloprid use in rice paddies (Sanchez-Bayo and Goka 2006). Bayer Corp. reported that imidacloprid, the first neonicotinoid insecticide, made termites more susceptible to pathogenic soil fungi – although the mechanism there was purported to be through a disruption in grooming behaviour rather than through an impact on their immune system (Bayer undated). In addition, several researchers have now shown experimentally that neonicotinoids at sub lethal dose can disrupt immune function in bees (e.g. Alaux et al. 2010; Videau et al. 2011; Pettis 2012, Di Prisco et al. 2013, Aufauvre et al. 2014). Sanchez-Bayo et al. (2016a) and Pamminger et al. (2018) provide comprehensive reviews. Finally, there is some indication that, mechanistically at least, neonicotinoids can alter immune function in mammals. This will be reviewed in more detail below.

Another contemporaneous review by Quarles (2013) independently made the suggestion that current in-use insecticides and other environmental contaminants, either directly or indirectly (through food shortages and its consequences on immune function) might have predisposed bat populations to the current epidemic of white-nose syndrome.

The purpose of this review is to examine the various lines of evidence that the new systemic insecticides may be putting Canadian bats at risk. Specifically, this review will investigate the risk and magnitude of neonicotinoid exposure for bats foraging in agricultural landscapes, and assess the resulting direct risk to bats by constructing a formal risk assessment following an exhaustive review of what is known currently about the mammalian toxicology of neonics. The indirect effects of neonicotinoid insecticides in bats will also be explored by reviewing the case for insect declines and the probable involvement of neonicotinoid insecticides in these declines. Section 2 presents details of bat biology that are relevant to the risk assessment; Section 3 presents evidence for indirect effects of neonicotinoids on bats, and; Section 4 provides an assessment of the direct impacts of pesticides on bats and the presentation of a framework for a bat-centric assessment for the five neonicotinoid pesticides registered in Canada.

2. Aspects of Bat Biology Relevant to this Review

All Canadian bats are strictly insectivorous. General physiological features of various bat species occurring in Canada will be sufficient to explore potential impacts of neonicotinoid insecticides on bats. Based on Loeb *et al.* (2015), there are 19 species in Canada, including six species listed as a species At Risk under the federal Species at Rick Act (Table 2.1).

Scientific name	Common name	Presence in Canada	Status in Canada	Presence in the U.S.	Status in the U.S.	Presence in Mexico	Status in Mexico
Antrozous pallidus	Pallid Bat	+	SARA Threatened	+	_	+	
Artibeus jamaicensis	Jamaican Fruit- eating Bat	-		+		+	
Choeronycteris mexicana	Mexican Long- tongued Bat	-	—	+	_	+	Threatened
Corynorhinus rafinesquii	Rafinesque's Big-eared Bat	-	—	+	_	-	
Corynorhinus townsendii	Townsend's Big-eared Bat	+	CESCC Sensitive	+	C. t. ingens and C. t. virginianus Endangered	+	
Eptesicus fuscus	Big Brown Bat	+	CESCC Secure	+	_	+	
Euderma maculatum	Spotted Bat	+	SARA Special Concern	+	_	+	Special Protection
Eumops floridanus	Florida Bonneted Bat	-	_	+	Endangered	-	
Eumops perotis	Greater Bonneted Bat	-	—	+	—	+	
Eumops underwoodii	Underwood's Bonneted Bat	-	—	+		+	
Idionycteris phyllotis	Allen's Big- eared Bat	-	—	+		+	
Lasionycteris noctivagans	Silver-haired Bat	+	CESCC Secure	+		+	Special Concern
Lasiurus blossevillii	Western Red Bat	-b	—	+		+	
Lasiurus borealis	Eastern Red Bat	+	CESCC Secure	+		+	
Lasiurus cinereus	Hoary Bat	+	CESCC Secure	+	L. c. semotus Endangered	+	
Lasiurus ega	Southern Yellow Bat	-	_	+		+	
Lasiurus intermedius	Northern Yellow Bat	-		+		+	

Table 2.1. North American bat species and their conservation status(Modified after Loeb et al. 2015)

				1		1	
Lasiurus seminolus	Seminole Bat	-		+	—	-	
Lasiurus xanthinus	Western Yellow Bat	-		+	—	+	_
Leptonycteris nivalis	Mexican Long- nosed Bat	-		+	Endangered	+	Threatened
Leptonycteris yerbabuenae	Lesser Long- nosed Bat	-	_	+	Endangered	+	Threatened
Macrotus californicus	California Leaf- nosed Bat	-	_	+	—	+	
Molossus molossus	Pallas' Mastiff Bat	-	_	+	—	+	_
Mormoops megalophylla	Peter's Ghost- faced Bat	-	_	+	—	+	_
Myotis auriculus	Southwestern Myotis	-	_	+	—	+	_
Myotis austroriparius	Southeastern Myotis	-	-	+	—	-	—
Myotis californicus	California Myotis	+	CESCC Secure	+	_	+	_
Myotis ciliolabrum	Western Small- footed Myotis	+	CESCC Secure	+	—	+	
Myotis evotis	Long-eared Myotis	+	CESCC Secure	+	—	+	_
Myotis grisescens	Gray Myotis	-	_	+	Endangered	-	_
Myotis keenii	Keen's Myotis	+	CESCC May be at Risk	+	—	-	—
Myotis leibii	Eastern Small- footed Myotis	+	CESCC May be at Risk	+	—	-	—
Myotis lucifugus	Little Brown Myotis	+	SARA Endangered	+	—	-	
Myotis melanorhinus	Dark-nosed Small-footed Myotis	+	Not assessed	+		+	
Myotis occultus	Arizona Myotis	-	—	+	—	+	_
Myotis septentrionalis	Northern Myotis	+	SARA Endangered	+	Threatened	-	_
Myotis sodalis	Indiana Myotis	-	_	+	Endangered	-	_
Myotis thysanodes	Fringed Myotis	+	CESCC May be at Risk; SARA Special Concern	+	—	+	
Myotis velifer	Cave Myotis	-	_	+		+	_
Myotis volans	Long-legged Myotis	+	CESCC Secure	+	_	+	
Myotis yumanensis	Yuma Myotis	+	CESCC Secure	+		+	
Nycticeius humeralis	Evening Bat	-	—	+	_	+	—

Nyctinomops femorosaccus	Pocketed Free- tailed Bat	-		+	 +	
Nyctinomops macrotis	Big Free-tailed Bat	-		+	 +	—
Parastrellus hesperus	Canyon Bat	-		+	 +	
Perimyotis subflavus	Tri-colored Bat	+	SARA Endangered	+	 +	
Tadarida brasiliensis	Brazilian Free- tailed Bat	+C		+	 +	—

+ = Species present, - = Species not present, - = No special status.

Note: Scientific and common names follow Wilson and Reeder (2005, Mammal species of the world. 3d ed. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press. 2 vol.) except for those species whose taxonomy has been revised since publication of that document.

^a SARA = Species at Risk Act, Schedule 1; CESCC = Canadian Endangered Species Conservation Council assessment of the state of biodiversity nationally, considering provincial status ranks (Canadian Endangered Species Conservation Council (CESCC). 2011. Wild species 2010: the general status of species in Canada. National General Status Working Group. 302 p. http:// publications.gc.ca/ collections/collection_2011/ec/CW70-7-2010-eng.pdf. [Date accessed: May 2015].). This latter ranking system affords no protection to bats federally, but is indicative of expert assessment of the status of each species. In addition, some species are protected under provincial legislation.

^b Recent genetic evidence confirms this species has not been found in Canada (Nagorsen and Paterson 201; an update of the status of red bats, Lasiurus blossevillii and Lasiurus borealis, in British Columbia. Northwestern Naturalist. 93: 235–237.).

^c Recently discovered in British Columbia, especially Salt Spring Island, (Ommundsen *et al.* 2017. Northwestern Naturalist 98:132-136.)

2.1 Bats as Generalist Predators

There is a growing consensus that most insectivorous bat species in North America are generalist predators feeding on a wide range of insect taxa and switching prey preferences in response to availability. The advent of molecular bar-coding tools for analysis of fecal samples has contributed to this understanding. For example, a comprehensive dietary analysis of 56 Eastern Red Bats captured in Pinery Provincial Park in southern Ontario identified at least 127 different prey species in five orders and 16 families (Clare *et al.* 2009). Insect prey species were seldom identified more than once and a species accumulation curve showed no sign of plateauing – an indication that the authors were merely scratching the surface with their sample size.

Clare repeated the exercise with the Little Brown Myotis with the collaboration of several colleagues across Canada (Clare et al 2014). They identified nearly 600 distinct insect species, 30% of which could be identified. Not surprisingly, prey species differed seasonally and geographically. Repeat samples in the same location and time of year for different years also showed large differences.

Whereas some might argue that the broad food preferences of many bat species reduces their risk of being affected by food shortages brought about by insect depletions (section 3.1 below), it is likely that rich and complex food webs are essential, even for generalist predators. For example, it has been shown that the temporal interplay of multiple terrestrial and aquatic insect resources is critical to insectivorous bird communities; i.e. birds are able to switch from terrestrial to aquatic sources and vice versa in response to availability (Nakano and Murakami 2001). Foraging in bats (as in many insectivorous bird species) is very energetically-demanding and requires very high insect densities to be profitable. There is some evidence that bats are often food-limited, which results in a complete cessation of feeding activity and night-time roosting while waiting for feeding conditions to improve (Anthony *et al.* 1981). Diverse and abundant food resources from land and insect hatches from freshwater systems are likely important for maintaining North American bat populations.

The two main foraging strategies of insectivorous bats are aerial hawking and gleaning from surfaces. Several species appear to show plasticity in that regard and can use either strategy even if one dominates (Ratcliffe and Dawson 2003). In the context of pesticide exposure, we propose that gleaning from plant surfaces would result in greater exposure potential (see section 4.4).



Bats are generalist predators. Little Brown Myotis foraging. Photo Credit: Sherri and Brock Fenton.

2.2. Food Habitat of Bats in Agricultural Landscapes

Bats are commonly present in landscapes dominated by agriculture and the value of bats in providing ecosystem services has been an increasing area of study. In temperate regions, bats eat up to 600 insects a night and so provide a vital pest-control service that is valued at approximately US\$3.7 billion a year for North American farmers (Boyles *et al.* 2011).

Traditional analysis of insectivorous bats' food habits (through the microscopic identification of insect parts in bat feces) have shown that bats consume many prominent agricultural pest species (reviewed in Kunz *et al.* 2011). It is therefore reasonable to assume that consumption of these insect pests may represent a source of pesticide exposure – especially where there is a delay between treatment and insect mortality, where the insects were sub-lethally exposed or when insects are externally contaminated on their wings, hairs or scales by dust or droplets. The broad contamination of terrestrial and aquatic systems by neonicotinoid insecticides ensures that a broad brush of insect species beyond the pest species will be contaminated (see section 4.4. below). Kunz *et al.* (2011) cited some key pest species and crops where bat predation might occur: June Beetles (grasses, cereals, sugar beet, soybeans and potatoes), Wireworms (most crops), Leafhoppers and Plant Hoppers (rice, potatoes, grapes, almond, citrus and row crops), Corn Rootworms/Spotted Cucumber Beetles (corn, spinach, cucurbits), Stinkbugs (fruit trees, corn, cereals and vegetables), Cutworms (most crops), Tortrix moths (fruit and nut trees), and Snout Moths (nut and fruit trees, cranberries).



A cucumber beetle, one of the many agricultural pests that bats feed on. Photo credit: Canadian Wildlife Federation Photo Club.

As mentioned earlier, the use of genetic tools such as DNA barcoding has greatly aided the study of bat food habits by allowing the identification of soft-bodied insects such as moths to the species level. Kunz *et al.* (2011) have reviewed case studies including the impact of Brazilian Free-tailed Bats on herbivorous insects in coffee plantations. Recent studies in that system had shown that much of the insect removal previously attributed to birds was from bats instead. Kunz *et al.* (2011) also referenced a number of other studies showing that bats use agroecosystems for foraging.

McCracken *et al.* (2012) argue that, as generalist predators, bats perform very large ecosystem services in agriculture. For vast acreages of annual crops – our dominant form of agriculture today – generalist predators are able to survive periods between irruptions of the main pest species by switching to alternative pest species. They looked at free-tailed bats in Texas and their relationship to corn earworms/cotton bollworm – Helicoverpa sp. – and documented a correlation between the number of pests regionally and the proportion of bat feces with earworm DNA, showing that the bats tracked moth abundance in space and time. The authors also documented the importance of late fall insect flights on the ability of the bats to accumulate fat reserves for their migratory flights south. The same argument could presumably be presented on the importance of abundant irruptive insect species to hibernation readiness and survival in more Northern species of bats.

Sirami *et al.* (2013) reviewed several studies where agricultural crops offered foraging opportunities for bats, notably vineyards, olive groves, cotton fields, cacao and banana plantations. However, they stressed the importance of natural features (woodlots, hedgerows or tree lines) as well as natural or impounded bodies of water as focal points for foraging activity even though foraging in their own study was as intensive in the crop areas surrounding artificial wetlands than over the wetlands themselves. Similarly, Stahlschmidt *et al.* (2017) documented the use of orchards, vineyards and field crops by foraging bats in Germany; although foraging intensity was highest along forest edges there was no difference between agricultural and non-agricultural sites. Their conclusion was not so much about the benefit of bats for pest control in cropland but a concern for potential exposure of bats to the suite of pesticides applied on those crops. We will be looking at this in detail in section 4.



Natural habitat on farmland provide important foraging opportunities for bats. Photo Credit: Getty Images.

Dagenais (2016) found that bats in the Okanagan valley of British Columbia used vineyards as much as they did natural habitat. Vineyards were in close proximity to cliff roosting areas and she postulated that bats (especially lactating females) might have foraged as close to their roosts as possible for energetic reasons. However, she was not able to distinguish actual foraging from travel to and from foraging areas.

Not all studies show a heavy use of crops by bats. Insectivorous bats in rural Sicily foraged over water and riparian vegetation but appeared to avoid intensively farmed vineyards (Di Salvo *et al.* 2009). Studies on the endangered Indiana Bat have shown that, in agriculturally-dominated areas, the bats tend to concentrate their foraging in riverine areas and in small woodlots (Kniowski *et al.* 2014) within the agricultural matrix. It was not clear from these studies whether insect abundance was lower in the agricultural areas than the natural habitats.

It is logical to think that site and time-specific prey availability will dictate how much bats will use agricultural crops; pesticides clearly can affect local prey availability. Indeed, of all the components of agricultural intensification, pesticides (specifically insecticides and fungicides) emerge as the most significant factor in reducing biodiversity in agro-ecosystems (Geiger et al. 2010). In a more bat-directed study, Wickramasinghe et al. (2003) compared bat activity over organic fields with that of paired conventionally-grown fields in the United Kingdom. They found that bat activity overall was 61% higher on organic farms although bat diversity did not differ. The differential use of bodies of water on organic and conventional farms was most pronounced; suggesting to us that the reduced potential of surface water on conventional farms to produce insects – most likely as a result of pesticide contamination – was responsible for the reduced bat foraging opportunities. As part of the same study, Wickramasinghe et al. (2004) found that agricultural intensification in the form of agrochemical use had a clear negative impact on nocturnal insect communities; they argued that bats are resource-limited and suffer population impacts as a result of the invertebrate loss that accompanies agricultural intensification. Put et al. (2018) arrived at similar results in a study near Ottawa, Ontario: bat activity is consistently higher over organic soybean fields than over conventional soybean fields paired for size, hedgerow length and nearby cover type. Here again, insect prey abundance appears to be the causal link.

Fuentes-Montemayor *et al.* (2011) looked at promoted agri-environmental schemes in the UK (having to do with hedgerow and streambank management as well as the creation of 'beetle banks' and species-rich grasslands) but found that these schemes did not improve foraging opportunities for bats and indeed did not improve use by the locally-dominant bat species of the Pipistrellus genus. Froidevaux *et al.* (2017), unlike results presented above, did not find higher bat activity in organic vineyards. However, they stated that early-summer insecticide sprays were mandatory for all vineyards, whether conventional or organic. Their statistical models showed the proximity to water courses to be the strongest explanatory factor for bat activity. The reintroduction of structural elements to increase habitat heterogeneity in agricultural landscapes has been proposed to help bat species more generally (Frey-Ehrenhold *et al.* 2013).

2.3 Ecosystem Services

One key aspect in assessing the value of generalist predators is whether they can reduce the need for conventional treatment such as pesticide application. Unfortunately, the main feature of recent insect pest control has been the prophylactic treatment of vast acreages with systemic pesticides – or, in some cases, the use of transgenic crops that also contain an insecticide whether or not justified by pest pressure. The idea that prophylactic treatments could result in a costly reduction of pest control services when generalist predators decrease their activity in treated areas has been raised by several authors. For example, Federico *et al.* (2008) looked at the advent of Bt cotton crops (then 95% of the total cotton crop area) and asked through a modeling exercise whether this method of pest control nullified the agronomic value of bat predation. They found that the agronomics of both Bt and conventional cotton production was more profitable when large numbers of insectivorous bats were present.

They also argued that bat predation on surviving insect pests in Bt cotton would delay the onset of the inevitable resistance that accompanies any development of a new insecticide class, a long term benefit not quantified in the model. Extending data computed for cotton-dominated agroecosystems to other cropland, Boyles *et al.* (2011) estimated that bats are worth between 3.7 and 53 USD\$ billion per year.

Closer to a Canadian crop scenario, Maine and Boyles (2015) used night-time exclosures to assess the impact of bats on corn pests in Illinois. They also proposed to test the critical assumption that predation on adult moths by bats would result in a reduced number of eggs laid and thence the number of larvae infesting the crop and the level of crop damage. They found that bats appeared to follow insect abundance and areas under exclosures had, on average 59% more corn earworm larvae per ear of corn and 56% more damaged kernels/ear. Because of the high variance, the 20% increase in overall yield in the exclosures was not significant; on the other hand, the increased level of fungal infection and mycotoxin as a result of insect damage was significant.

Now that we have demonstrated the importance of agricultural land to bat foraging, the next section focuses on the indirect effects of pesticides including neonicotinoids on bats.



Townsend's Big-eared Bat. Photo credit: Sherri and Brock Fenton.

3. Assessing the Indirect Effects of Pesticides on Bats

3.1 The Evidence for Insect Declines

Recent scientific papers have documented the global decline of insect species. Dirzo *et al.* (2014) developed a global index for invertebrate abundance that indicated a 45 percent decline over the last forty years. The German Krefeld Society analyzed long term datasets in 63 locations within protected areas of Germany (Hallmann *et al.* 2017). They used Malaise traps to assess the flying insect biomass between 1989 and 2016 and, through an elegant statistical analysis, reported a dramatic decline in abundance of insects over this period – by 77% as a weighted yearly average or as much as 82% in the summer season. The authors looked at various factors such as climate, land use and local habitat to explain those declines. Whereas the number of frost days and winter precipitation explained some within and between-year variation, it did not explain the decline over time. Indeed, the period under study saw a gradual increase in temperature and reduction in wind, which should have been beneficial to insect numbers. In addition, whereas habitat type explained variations seen in insect numbers, the overall loss rate was similar in all habitats.

Factoring in habitat changes within 200m of trap sites (from aerial photographs) revealed a few weak interactive effects: notably that insect declines were more marked at sites in proximity to grassland habitat than sites with a high proportion of forests or arable land. The presence of arable land had a negative effect on insect biomass, and although coverage of arable land decreased over time (while forest area increased), the authors did not see an expected increase in insect biomass. Rather than an expected 8% increase in insect biomass over time due to decreasing arable land, a 77% decline in insect biomass was observed. The authors of the study surmised that agricultural intensification (pesticide use, tillage, fertilizer use, loss of field margins and frequency of treatments) was the most plausible reason for the decline since most of the sampling locations were fragments of protected habitats within larger agricultural landscapes.

Wickramasinghe *et al.* (2004) compared the nocturnal insect community of paired conventional and organic fields in the UK. They found higher abundance in pastures, water and woodland habitats (the latter only when dry weight was compared) of organic farms compared to the same habitats on conventional farms. The abundance of Lepidoptera and Diptera correlated with bat activity on those same farms. Pesticide use was the most important difference between the two farm types; unfortunately, the authors were not able to completely separate a possible habitat structure effect, organic farms having slightly higher hedges on average.



Agricultural intensification is associated with increased use of pesticides and decreased insect abundance. Photo Credit: Getty Images.

One interesting feature of the German Krefeld Society data on which the Hallmann *et al.* (2017) analysis was based is that hoverflies, as a group, showed a particularly steep decline (Vogel 2017). They are pollinators highly dependent on nectar and pollen and are therefore vulnerable to impacts of systemic products such as the neonicotinoids. Indeed, in her reporting and analysis of the Krefeld and other data, Vogel (2017) singles out neonicotinoids as likely culprits.

Subjectively, there is reason to believe that much broader insect declines are occurring here as they are in Europe. On both continents, the 'car screen effect', the fact that one need not clean squashed bugs on car windscreens the way we had to in earlier times has been a subject of conversation – in biological circles at least if not automotive circles. Despite improvements in car aerodynamics, there is a strong feeling that a generalised decline in flying insects on both continents is real (Vogel 2017).

3.2 Importance of Aquatic Insects to Bats

Bats are known to feed on many insects of aquatic origin. For example, Clare *et al.* (2009) identified Ephemeroptera, Neuroptera, and possibly Trichoptera in fecal samples from Northern Red Bats in southern Ontario (Clare *et al.* 2009). Little Brown Myotis are known to forage extensively over

water on aquatic insect hatches (reviewed in Clare *et al.* 2014). The latter study indicated that the most frequent food items were species of chironomids and Ephemeroptera, which are amongst the most sensitive taxa to neonicotinoids (Morissey *et al.* 2015, Sanchez-Bayo 2016b).

Studies by Wickramasinghe *et al.* (2003, 2004) and Kniowski *et al.* (2014) emphasize the importance of water bodies for foraging. The findings of reduced insect availability and foraging opportunities associated with surface water on conventional farms compared to organic ones is a clear indication that disruption of aquatic food webs as a result of pesticide contamination is likely affecting bats.



A Mayfly, of the order Ephemeroptera. One of the many aquatic insect species in the bat diet and sensitive to neonicotinoid pesticides. Photo credit: Canadian Wildlife Federation Photo Club.

3.3 Indirect Effects of Neonicotinoids on Bats

This section reviews the evidence for indirect effects of neonicotinoid pesticides on bats, primarily through the mechanism of decline in insect (i.e. bat food) abundance.

3.3.1 The Risk Case for the Involvement of Neonicotinoids in Insect Declines

Mineau and Palmer (2013) argued that neonicotinoids likely caused serious impacts on invertebrate populations. Notwithstanding the fact that the predecessors of neonicotinoids (e.g. organophosphorous, carbamate and pyrethroid insecticides) had clear documented local impacts,

Mineau and Palmer (2013) argued that the risk from neonicotinoids was both wider in scope and longer in duration as a result of very high toxicity to insects and other invertebrates, very long persistence in soils, very high systemic activity and high water solubility and runoff potential. The broad scale and prophylactic use of neonicotinoids (e.g. Douglas and Tooker 2015) is clearly cause for concern given the issues associated with dust production at seeding (see section 4.4.2 below). Possibly as a result of this dust contamination, wind-erodable surface soil and/or surface runoff, studies have shown extensive contamination of pollen supplies and vegetation in field edges at levels that can exceed those in the crop proper (e.g. Botias *et al.* 2015; Long and Krupke 2016; Tsvetkov *et al.* 2017).

There is now strong evidence that the neonicotinoids and, possibly, other recent systemically active insecticides can alter aquatic food webs. Neonicotinoids are highly water-soluble, low soil binding and non-volatile and therefore only a small portion of neonicotinoid active ingredient applied to seeds is taken up by plants. These properties cause leaching into surface waters, ground water, streams and ponds via spray drift and run-off (Goulson 2013; Anderson *et al.* 2015). Neonicotinoids have become ubiquitous in aquatic environments across agricultural landscapes (Mineau and Palmer 2013; Main *et al.* 2014; Anderson *et al.* 2015; Morrissey *et al.* 2015; Miles *et al.* 2017, Struger et al 2017; Bradford et al, 2018; Hladik *et al.* 2018).

Aquatic insect larvae are sensitive to acute and chronic exposures to neonicotinoids (Morrissey *et al.* 2015). Reported effects on aquatic invertebrate larvae include lethality, feeding inhibition, reduced growth, mobility impairment and delayed emergence (Goulson 2013; Morrissey *et al.* 2015). In a review of impacts of neonicotinoids on aquatic systems, Sánchez-Bayo *et al.* (2016b) summarized strong evidence that the concentration of neonicotinoids in aquatic systems globally is causing the decline of many populations of invertebrates and is affecting the structure and function of aquatic ecosystems. Consequently, vertebrates such as bats, which depend on aquatic invertebrate hatches as an important source of food are likely being affected by neonicotinoids.

Mineau and Palmer (2013) commented unfavourably on the way in which the aquatic toxicity potential of neonicotinoids had been assessed by various regulatory authorities, especially the US Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). This was a result of their outdated assessment methodology and their ignoring of literature values in favour of a few industry values obtained for a few species known to be insensitive to neonicotinoid insecticides. The analysis of Mineau and Palmer (2013) was expanded and published as Morrissey *et al.* (2015); a similar review of the evidence was published in 2016 (Sanchez-Bayo *et al.* 2016b). One key argument is that the aquatic toxicity of clothianidin and thiamethoxam, the two main seed treatment neonicotinoids in Canada, can be assumed to be similar to that of imidacloprid, the neonicotinoid insecticide with the most comprehensive data set. Based on Morrissey *et al.* (2015), deleterious effects on the aquatic environment (loss of aquatic and emergent insect resources) are expected from pulse exposures as low as 0.2 µg/l of combined neonicotinoid residues and chronic exposures an order of magnitude or more lower. The USEPA (2017) reassessed its position on imidacloprid and reduced their acute

reference value from 35 µg/l to 0.77 µg/l and their chronic reference value from 1.05 µg/l to 0.01 µg/l. This certainly brings the EPA closer to international standards when assessing the potential impacts from the extensive aquatic contamination that results from neonicotinoid uses.

Morrissey *et al.* (2015) demonstrated that scientifically-derived reference levels were often exceeded in various water monitoring exercises – and not just for imidacloprid. For clothianidin for example, Main (2014) reports values as high as 3.1 μ g/L from sloughs in canola-growing areas following the use of seed treatments; Samson-Robert *et al.* (2014) found levels as high as 55.7 μ g/L in puddles on seeded fields; Schaafsma *et al.* (2015) measured levels as high as 16.2 μ g/L in ditches outside a seeded field and 3.25 μ g/L in puddles potentially as far as 100 m from the fields. Whiting *et al.* (2014; 2015) documented clothianidin residues in runoff a full 156 days after planting – and this, at one-fifth of the allowable treatment rate. For thiamethoxam, Main *et al.* (2014) found levels as high as 63.4 μ g/L in puddles on seeded fields; Samson-Robert *et al.* (2014) found levels as high as 63.4 μ g/L in puddles on seeded fields; and Schaafsma *et al.* (2015) measured levels as high as 7.5 μ g/L in ditches outside a seeded field and 16.5 μ g/L in puddles outside their Ontario field. The latter two measurements were all the more remarkable because they were measured pre-plant and therefore indicated contamination from the previous growing season. Higher levels were recorded in puddles within the field area.

Recent samples taken from a variety of waterbodies in crop and non-crop sites within an agricultural landscape in Indiana (Miles *et al.* 2017; with 2018 correction) found concentrations of clothianidin averaging 0.101 μ g/L (all sites combined; with samples taken weekly for eight weeks). Interestingly, the highest concentrations of clothianidin that were detected (0.45-0.67 μ g/L) were from small lentic woodland bodies of water well away from the seeded corn and soybean fields. One of these sites (PMA W) apparently received drainage from nearby fields; how the other got contaminated is unknown. Regardless, levels in these wetlands were higher than those reported in any of the ditch samples taken nearer the seeded fields. These data reinforce the emerging concern that aquatic life in watersheds in proximity to agricultural lands are at serious risk from inputs (whether dust or runoff) from agricultural fields in the watershed at large. These impacts are likely to cause cascade effects in consumer species including bats.

These results are all the more striking when one considers that 'grab' samples, such as the above, seldom reflect peak residue levels. Indeed, it has been shown that, even when taken weekly, water samples will likely underestimate peak concentrations by one to three orders of magnitude (Xing *et al.* 2013). In addition, it is reasonable to assume that the effects of different neonicotinoid insecticides act in a cumulative fashion on exposed invertebrates. Finally, extending the exposure period (as found in monitored watersheds) dramatically increases the toxicity of (and the effect posed by) neonicotinoids (Tennekes 2010a; Sanchez-Bayo 2009). This last point has not been factored into current assessments despite its overwhelming importance and there are strong arguments that they should (Sanchez-Bayo and Tennekes 2017; Hladik *et al.* 2018).

Clothianidin, thiamethoxam, and imidacloprid, and their associated products, were re-evaluated recently by the Health Canada Pest Management Regulatory Agency (PMRA), which recommended a complete phase out of all outdoor uses of these neonicotinoids on food and feed crops including seed treatments and outdoor ornamentals due to the evidence of serious harm to aquatic species and ecosystems (PMRA 2016b; PMRA 2018).

The US EPA (2017) has similarly concluded that imidacloprid levels are frequently above levels at which aquatic taxa will be negatively affected. The EPA's re-evaluation of clothianidin and thiamethoxam was not concluded at the time of publishing this report.

3.3.2 The Developing Evidence for Bona Fide Impacts from Neonicotinoid Insecticides

Not surprisingly, actually demonstrating a direct cause and effect between the use of neonicotinoids and the loss of invertebrate biomass at landscape scales is not an easy task. The work of Van Dijk et al. (2013) is often cited because of their conclusion that neonicotinoid insecticides affect aquatic invertebrate levels in Dutch landscapes. However, this conclusion was criticized by Vijver and van Den Brink (2014) who argued that van Djik et al. (2013) failed to consider residues of other potentially toxic pesticides by concentrating on neonicotinoids alone. It is clearly difficult to separate the effect of neonicotinoid residues from those of other pesticides also found contaminating surface waters in watersheds with heavy agricultural and/or industrial activity. However, the most convincing analysis was that of Hallman et al. (2014) who looked at insectivorous bird population trends, also in the Netherlands. In order to get over any criticism that their study was merely correlative, Hallman et al. (2014) divided the time period of their analysis into pre- and postneonicotinoid periods. They found that neonicotinoid concentrations explained bird declines and that these site-specific declines were not seen before the introduction of the neonicotinoids, despite the use of other toxic insecticides such as organophosphorous or pyrethroid products. The other interesting point in the Hallman et al. study is that the neonicotinoid concentration at which regional bird declines are being seen (0.194 μ g/L) is exactly where we would have predicted to see an effect based on the analysis of Morrissey et al. (2015) presented above (deleterious effects having been predicted to occur at 0.20 µg/L of summed neonicotinoid concentration or higher).

There is now reasonably strong evidence (Gilburn *et al.* 2015) that neonicotinoid insecticides, and seed treatments in particular, are driving declines of butterfly species in the UK where extensive datasets on butterfly numbers are available. In an analysis similar to the Hallman *et al.* (2014) study, Gilburn *et al.* (2015) showed that even increasing population trends in several species were reversed following the introduction of neonicotinoids; areas with low neonicotinoid use did not show the same extent of insect declines.

Similar results were obtained in a study conducted in California (Forister *et al.* 2016). Neonicotinoid use was the best predictor to explain dramatic declines in butterflies beginning in 1997 (neonicotinoid use began in 1995 in the region). Other insecticide classes were also examined but did not show the temporal association with butterfly declines. The overall effect of neonicotinoids

was equal to (but clearly additive to) that of land conversion (habitat loss) and species showing the strongest negative association with neonicotinoid use experienced the most severe declines. These tended to be the smaller-bodied species and those with the fewest number of generations per year. Lepidoptera, especially small-bodied species are clearly important food items for bats.

Similarly, Woodcock *et al.* (2016) were able to show that the use of neonicotinoids in oilseed rape (canola) in the United Kingdom explained extinction rates of wild bee species. Several studies have now appeared showing a correlative link between neonicotinoid use (specifically clothianidin, thiamethoxam and thiacloprid) and the presence and viability of both managed and wild pollinator species as well as beneficial insect predatory and parasitoid species (see detailed review in Pisa *et al.* 2017). As shown by Tappert *et al.* (2017) working on parasitoid wasps, behavioural effects (seen at 1% of the contact LD50 in their study) can have negative consequences on reproduction and the ability of various species to maintain their populations even if contamination levels stay below lethal levels – which unfortunately, they do not.

There is evidence to support the claim that, although insects have suffered from agricultural intensification and habitat loss generally, neonicotinoids in particular have had an important role in accelerating insect declines. The evidence is especially compelling for pollinators because this is where most of the research has been concentrated. However, it is clear that many of the same findings of lethal or deleterious sub lethal effects in pollinating species apply to other insect species as well. This is occurring at a time when the loss of feeding opportunities for bats are known to be reaching crisis levels; viz. the catastrophic declines in moth species in agricultural regions of Britain (Conrad *et al.* 2006).

Evidence that neonicotinoids are a strong contributor to insect declines should not come as a surprise. Their use has exploded in the last two decades as Figure 1 shows.



Fig.1: Comparison of estimated minimum use of imidacloprid in 1995 and 2014 according to the water program of the US Geological Survey. Source: (https://water.usgs.gov/nawqa/pnsp/usage/maps).

As early as 2008, the USEPA (USEPA 2008) in one of its reviews of thiamethoxam went as far as to predict "structural and functional changes of both the aquatic and terrestrial ecosystems" following registration of the insecticide. The senior author of the current report, despite having read pesticide risk assessments for almost forty years now, had never encountered such a broad statement of concern in a formal regulatory assessment. It is unfortunate indeed that this EPA scientist's views fell on deaf ears. Similarly, Tennekes's (2010b) self-published assessment of a 'disaster in the making' was roundly criticized for being alarmist and not distinguishing correlation from causation – but it now appears to have been correct, if not in all of the details, at least in the fundamentals.

Since then, a number of other institutions have come to similar conclusions. The 'Task Force on Systemic Pesticides' which was comprised of a large group of independent scientists (including this senior author) under the auspices of the IUCN carried out its 'Worldwide Integrated Assessment on the Impact of Systemic Pesticides on Biodiversity and Ecosystems (WIA)' and arrived at the conclusion that deleterious effects are expected on a wide range of aquatic species from current levels of neonicotinoid water contamination (van der Sluijs *et al.* 2015, Pisa *et al.* 2015). The European Academies Science Advisory Council (2015) made up of 29 independent scientists nominated by their respective countries concluded that the current widespread use of neonicotinoids has "severe negative effects on non-target organisms" and that there is "clear scientific evidence for sublethal effects of very low levels of neonicotinoids over extended periods". Most recently, an updated assessment of the exploding literature by the WIA (Pisa *et al.* 2017) reiterated the strengthened evidence for the potential of this class of insecticide to "greatly decrease populations of arthropods in both terrestrial and aquatic environments." As for Sanchez-Bayo (2016b), referenced earlier, his conclusion summarizes the level of concern aptly:

"Negative impacts of neonicotinoids in aquatic environments are a reality.... The decline of many populations of invertebrates, due mostly to the widespread presence of waterborne residues and the extreme chronic toxicity of neonicotinoids, is affecting the structure and function of aquatic ecosystems. Consequently, vertebrates that depend on insects and other aquatic invertebrates as their sole or main food resource are being affected."

4. Assessing the Direct Effects of Neonicotinoid Insecticides on Bats

The current section presents a framework for assessing effects of acute, subacute and chronic (season-long) exposure of bats to neonicotinoids. To do this, several components are compiled:

- Evidence for pesticide exposure in bats
- Application rates of the five neonicotinoids registered for use in Canada;
- Evidence for estimating neonicotinoid residue on insects following foliar application, seeding application, and residues not associated with a recent application;
- Proposing insect residue values for a risk assessment;
- Estimating daily consumption rates of insects by bats;
- Identifying effect levels for each of the five neonicotinoids registered for use in Canada from toxicological studies;
- Proposing toxicity reference values for a bat risk assessment

4.1 Framework for a Proposed Bat-centric Risk Assessment

When assessing the risk of pesticides to wild mammals, the USEPA (2013) uses both the LD50 (the lowest available for tested mammalian species) as well as the two generation rat NOAEL (The 'No Adverse Effect Level'). These endpoints are then compared to expected dietary intakes. For acute scenarios, the highest safety factor that is applied to the ratio of predicted exposure to endpoint (the risk quotient – or RQ) is a factor of 10, but only for endangered species. For all other species, no risk is 'officially expected' unless the daily calculated residue intake is greater than half the LD50. For chronic scenarios, some risk is considered possible if daily intake (at peak residue concentration) exceeds the chronic NOAEL. The EU has a somewhat similar approach but with a few minor differences (EFSA 2009a).

In our opinion, the approaches described above are inadequate for our needs. In the wild, exposed individuals showing any signs of toxicosis run a high risk of predation or demise. It has long been thought that sub-lethal debilitation was an important factor in explaining wildlife mortality, at least with neurotoxic insecticides (see several of the chapters in Mineau 1991; a review of the impact of cholinesterase-inhibiting insecticides). An acute risk assessment based on exposed mammals reaching a laboratory-derived LD50 seriously underestimates risk to those species. For a flying species especially, deficits in locomotor ability and alertness (which typically occurs at relatively low levels of exposure – Eidels *et al.* 2016) will quickly lead to injury and/or death. Conversely, comparing chronic effect levels to residues in insects immediately post-spray as is currently done undoubtedly introduces a fair degree of over-protection. Because concerns of chronic toxicity in

mammalian wildlife are repeatedly triggered following many evaluations, they become meaningless; these routine 'risk exceedances' are then likely to be dismissed (or ignored) by registration authorities.

In order to more accurately examine the risk to bats from the proliferation of neonicotinoid insecticides, we propose to develop acute, subacute and chronic (season-long) ingestion endpoints based on the existing corpus of mammalian toxicology research. For the acute scenarios, we propose to consider newly established, evidence-based no effect levels rather than LD50 values. These could come from acute lethality studies – or observations made following any other study where a single acute dose was delivered – such as the neurotoxicity screens. Sub-acute endpoints will be NOAELs obtained in studies of approximately 3 months in duration or less and chronic endpoints will be taken from the two generation (rat) studies. In human risk assessments, endpoints from rat or rabbit developmental studies are often used to calculate acute reference doses even though dosing takes place in a repeated fashion during conception, pregnancy and lactation. Unless otherwise indicated, we have opted to consider those endpoints in association with a sub-chronic assessment. For the purpose of this bat assessment, we have placed emphasis on endpoints expected to give rise to serious deficits in a wild population; that is: deficits expected to reduce the life expectancy or breeding potential of exposed individuals.

With organophosphorous insecticides, it was typical for wildlife risk assessments to put more emphasis on acute exposure risk scenarios. Whereas this might be appropriate for non-persistent pesticides with short environmental half-lives, we do not think that it is sufficient to account for the demonstrated exposure profile of systemic pesticides such as the neonicotinoids; they have been shown to have delayed effects and a long environmental persistence and therefore expose wildlife species in a sub-chronic or even chronic fashion. In their study of a non-farming human population living in an agricultural area of central Japan (Gunma prefecture), Marfo *et al.* (2015) found a prevalence of abnormal electrocardiographs, finger tremors, memory loss, headache, fatigue and muscle pain/weakness/spasm associated with neonicotinoid metabolites in the urine of patients. Exposure was thought to originate from consumption of locally-treated fruits, vegetable and especially tea; toxicity signs eventually disappeared when patients were told to avoid locally-produced foods. It is not difficult to make the case that neurological symptoms such as these would likely interfere with foraging and normal activities in bat species exposed through consumption of contaminated insects.

4.2 Pesticides and Bats

To date, most of the information on bats and pesticides concerns legacy organochlorine compounds or surface biocides used for treating wood, the latter affecting bats in attic colonies.

These issues have been reviewed in detail (e.g. Clark and Shore 2001) and there is no reason to discuss these any further. One key aspect of bat's susceptibility to these lipophilic compounds were related to yearly fat cycles and release of fat reserves during hibernation.

In a study more pertinent to modern insecticides, Eidels *et al.* (2016) dosed Big Brown Bats with chlorpyrifos and reviewed the (scant) available information on the sensitivity of bats to modern pesticides (OPs only) as well as the few known incidents where bat mortality has been linked to organophosphorous use. The latter are useful to indicate that exposure to agricultural pesticides is real and has been documented, at least occasionally.

Secord *et al.* (2015a) report what we believe to be the only detection of a neonicotinoid in bat tissue: thiamethoxam at 33 and 51 ng/g in two collected specimens. More information was included in subsequent correspondence with the senior author:

"I just checked and these two bats were M. sodalis collected on February 10, 2009 from a mine in northern NY - described as adults with apparent WNS (white-nose syndrome)." (A. Secord, pers. comm. 13 Sept. 2017)

The presence of residues at that time of the year suggests a much longer persistence than expected, possibly as a result of the bats going into torpor. This raises a question about how well the murine or dog toxicology database (reviewed below) can represent a heterothermic bat species (alternating seasonally between torpor and euthermy) given that the metabolism of ingested residues may differ substantially between those two periods.



Bats are exposed to pesticides by consuming pesticide residues on their prey. Photo credit: Sherri and Brock Fenton.

4.3 Canadian Application Rates of the Neonicotinoid Insecticides of Concern

For the purpose of this assessment, we opted to look at the five main neonicotinoid insecticides registered to date: clothianidin, acetamiprid, thiacloprid, imidacloprid, and thiamethoxam. Documents and labels compiled by the Pest Management Regulatory Agency (PMRA) or provincial authorities (e.g. Ontario or Saskatchewan) were consulted to generate maximum application rates. Three use categories were considered because of their potential to expose foraging bat species: airblast for fruit tree treatments, foliar sprays and seed treatments in all other crops. Maximum application rates in some cases were for non-food uses as specified in Table 4.1.

Active ingredient	Application type	Maximum labeled rate	Source(s)	Notes
		(g a.i./ha)		
Clothianidin	Airblast	210	PMRA 2011	
	Foliar	350	PMRA 2011	
	Seed treatment	99	Poncho 600FS (PCP#274531)	Corn: Poncho label of 1.25 mg/kernel seeded at 79000 kernels/ha
			OMAFRA 2017	
Acetamiprid	Airblast	168	PMRA 2010	
	Foliar	84	PMRA 2010	
	Seed treatment	45	PMRA 2010	Canola: Max seeding rate of 9 kg seed/ ha after PMRA 2010
			Vault 50FS (PCP#28119)	
thiacloprid	Airblast	210	PMRA 2007b	
			Calypso 480SC (PCP#28429)	
imidacloprid	Airblast	91	PMRA 2001b	
	Foliar	330	PMRA 2001b	Highest application rates to non-crop areas such as turf, lawns
	Seed treatment	196	Gaucho 600FL	Corn: Gaucho label of 800g a.i./100kg
			(PCP#26124)	seed, average seed weight of 3230 seeds/kg and seeding rate of 79000 seeds/ha.
			OMAFRA 2017	
thiamethoxam	Airblast	96	Actara 25WG (PCP#28408)	
	Foliar	700	Flagship	Highest application rate is for
			(PCP#30723)	ornamentals
	Seed treatment	41.7	Cruiser Maxx (PCP#29127)	Durum wheat: 30 g thiamethoxam/100 kg seed with seeding rate of 139 kg/ha
			Saskatchewan Agriculture 2016	

Table 4.1. Maximum Canadian labeled rates for the five neonicotinoid insecticides being assessed.

1 PCP#xxxxx refers to the legally-binding label registered in Canada. They are available at: http://pr-rp.hc-sc.gc.ca/ls-re/ index-eng.php

4.4 Pesticide Residues in Insects

4.4.1 Residues after a Foliar Application

Given the relative paucity of empirical data on expected residue levels in insects after a pesticide application, it was initially proposed by the USEPA (following Hoerger and Kenaga (1972) and Kenaga (1973)) to use data from plant materials having a similar surface to mass ratio as insects; e.g. a beetle might be equivalent to a grain of wheat. On that basis, it was assumed in countless risk assessments performed in the U.S. and elsewhere that residues in small insects (standardized as fresh weight residues for a 1 kg /ha application of active ingredient – or 1.121 lb/acre) would range from a mean of 29 ppm to a maximum of 52 ppm. For large insects, these values were 2.7 and 8.9 ppm respectively. It should be noted that objections have been raised over the years about the assumption that residue levels are linearly related to application rate – i.e. that residues can be standardized to a common application unit (typically kg of pesticide active ingredient/ha – or lbs/ acre in the U.S.). Many factors other than simple surface area should theoretically affect residue concentrations on surfaces; e.g. the shape and texture of the receiving surface, the characteristics of the spray, droplet spectrum etc. Some results have suggested that increased droplet 'capture' could be expected at lower rates of application (A. Hart and H. Thompson; pers. comm.). In 1994, the USEPA revised its predictive values for sprayed plant materials (Fletcher et al. 1994; Pfleeger et al. 1996) finding that the amount of residues on many plant surfaces had been underestimated. It should be noted that, for plant material, the definitive analysis was the subsequent Canadian analysis of Baril et al. (2005) who allowed the data to define meaningful plant categories based on gross morphology of the crop, branching pattern as well as height, leaf shape and size. They argued that, although predictively weak and variable, the linear 'Residue per Unit Dose' (RUD) concept was still the most reasonable choice for risk assessment purposes. Their recommendations form the basis of the latest EU procedures. We will use the RUD concept here also. Predicted insect residue levels can then be calculated as: RUD value (ppm/kg a.i./ha) * Application rate (kg a.i./ha).

The new 1994-96 analysis of plant residues created concern among pesticide registrants because of the risk that insect residue predictions would therefore be assessed upwards, leading risk assessments to predict a significant risk more often – especially in small insectivorous bird or mammal species that have a high food consumption relative to their body mass. Pesticide registrants consequently funded a number of studies to look at residues in insects following pesticide applications; this effort proved timely and was incorporated into USEPA's ECOFRAM (1999) project, an attempt to improve ecological risk assessments by incorporating principles of variability through the use of probability distributions rather than discrete (often worst case) estimates. These industry data suggested average, geometric mean and maximum initial residue levels of 6.4 ppm, 2.4 ppm and 60.5 ppm for all insects confounded, when exposed to a 1 kg a.i./ha foliar application of a pesticide. Although many of the samples were taken from pitfall traps – and therefore from insects still mobile and able to be trapped – both US and European regulators believed these results not to be biased because they matched other industry-funded data. However, these latter data were obtained in part by 'pinning down' insects, thereby preventing them from obtaining residues, either through direct contact or ingestion.

Subsequent research on residues in sprayed locust nymphs (Story *et al.* 2013) has since confirmed that, some insects at least, can accumulate residues by secondary uptake (whether moving through sprayed substrates or through dietary uptake) before they become debilitated; therefore, maximum residues are generally reached 3 h to 24 h post-spray and it is unlikely that artificially immobilized insects reflect realistic maximum residue levels any more than pitfall traps can. Our data suggest that sampling of (debilitated) insects for risk assessment purposes should mimic predation (we 'pecked' at prey items with forceps) and should take place over a longer and different time course than the aforementioned studies.

European risk assessors, in particular, had turned to those mid-1990s industry studies to revise downwards predicted residue levels in insects (European Commission 2002). This change affected all ecological risk assessments performed from the mid-1990s onward. Incidentally, this is the period of time during which all of the neonicotinoid insecticides that concern us here were assessed and registered. It is less clear whether the USEPA changed its initial screening procedures (Tier 1) to accommodate the new industry studies although they had been using the new industry values in their higher tier probabilistic assessments (e.g. their Terrestrial Investigation Model (TIM)). As late as December 2008, USEPA's Tier 1 web assessment tool TRex still used some of the older insect residue estimates based on the Kenaga 1972 and Fletcher *et al.* 1994 vegetation values (User's guide T-Rex Version 1.4.1; December 11 2008).

Currently, there is now a clear separation between USEPA and European thinking on insect residue levels expected following a pesticide application. After much back and forth, the EU adopted the following from EFSA recommendations (EFSA 2009a) (Table 4.2).

Based on the work by Story et al (2013) on locust nymphs referenced earlier – the latter being clear examples of 'ground-dwelling invertebrates without foliage interception' – the values in Table 4.2 (which form the basis of current EU vertebrate wildlife risk assessments) appear to be clear underestimates. For example, Story *et al.* (2013) calculated rate-normalised geometric mean concentrations of residues (retaining a single peak value per sampling site) to be 9.6 ppm, 12.6 ppm, and 14.8 ppm in live, debilitated, and dead locust nymphs, respectively. The residue-per-unit dose values reached maxima of 32 ppm in live and debilitated nymphs and 40 ppm in dead nymphs (fresh wt.). Literature values obtained in other orthopteran species are higher still (Story *et al.* 2013). A formal EU risk assessment would have predicted average and 90th percentile residues of 7.5 ppm and 13.8 ppm respectively, seriously underestimating the risk of intoxication in the many consumer species that prey on locust nymphs.

The USEPA, after reconsideration, now rejects many of the industry studies generated in the mid-1990s on the grounds of insufficient documentary evidence and because of the heavy reliance on pitfall traps (USEPA, TRex 1.5 accessed September 2017). Instead, they turned to available literature values and to submissions by various registrants pre-2007. They now propose two values for use in registration procedures – the 90th percentile of average values from the collection of studies on hand (73 ppm for a one kg a.i./ha application – or 65 ppm for a 1 lb a.i./acre application) and the 90th percentile of 90th percentile values obtained for each study (105 ppm – or 94 ppm for a 1 lb a.i./acre application).

Insect category	Application detail	Mean (ppm)	Standard deviation	90th percentile (ppm)	Ν
Ground dwelling invertebrates without interception	Ground directed applications	7.5	12.0	13.8	21
Ground dwelling invertebrates with interception	Applications directed to crop canopies, whether crops or orchards and vines	3.5	3.8	9.7	28
Insects (foliar dwelling Invertebrates** with foliar interception)	Whole season	21.0	21.6	54.1	35

 Table 4.2. Current European recommendations for estimating insect residue levels post-spray.

** Data on aphids excluded. These were very high values but were excluded because these were not considered to be of high preference to avian predators.

All this back and forth debate on putative insect residue values may seem sterile and pointless to some – but it is actually quite important. Beyond the issue of regulatory effectiveness, having a trustworthy value to work with is the only way in which we can relate the results of toxicological research to actual risk of harm in the wild. For example, a well-publicised recent article by Hsiao *et al.* (2016) showed that Formosan Leaf Bats (Hipposideras terasensis) orally dosed with imidacloprid at a level of 20 mg/kg bw for 5 days experienced spatial memory disorders. The authors concluded that: "... agricultural pesticides may pose severe threats to the survival of echolocation bats." However, such a conclusion was premature without the benefit of an assessment that takes into account likely exposure levels in the real world. To do this requires a few assumptions – the main one being likely residue levels in insect prey. We will have more to say about this study in a later section of the paper.

To our knowledge, only one study was carried out with the stated goal of assessing the risk to foraging bats. This was the Ph.D. work of Peter Stahlschmidt in Germany referred to earlier and

published in Stahlschmidt and Brühl (2012). He measured pesticide residues in both flying insects (by means of a light trap) and foliar insects (knocked down from the orchard trees) following applications of (primarily) fenoxycarb and chlorpyrifos-methyl (Stahlschmidt and Brühl, 2012). The residue concentrations obtained, standardised to a 1 kg a.i./ha application are tabulated in Table 4.3 below.

Pesticide, application replicate and sample type	Day 0 concentration (ppm)	Day 1 concentration (ppm)	Day 2 concentration (ppm)
Fenoxycarb			
Small flying insect, 1st spray	2.9	1.04	0.28
Small flying insect, 2nd spray	2.2	1.75	0.21
Small moths, 2nd spray	4.92	7.28	-
Large moths, 1st spray	2.21	0.89	0.13
Large moths, 2nd spray	1.34	0.88	0.21
Foliage-dwelling arthropods, 1st spray	57.52	10.8	11.55
Foliage-dwelling arthropods, 2nd spray	133.15	27.37	8.51
Chlorpyrifos-methyl			
Foliage-dwelling arthropods, 1st spray	4.34	-	-

 Table 4.3. Insect residue data from treated orchards in the bat study by Stahlschmidt and Brühl (2012).

The lower residue levels in flying insects were expected – because it is reasonable to expect that the more contaminated the insects, the more likely they are to be disabled and less likely to fly. The measured RUD (residue per unit dose) concentration of 133 ppm obtained with fenoxycarb in foliage-dwelling insects was, however, higher than expected based on the values documented above. Using the same methodology, the authors obtained a day 0 value of 4.3 ppm only following an application of chlorpyrifos-methyl. Regardless, this single experiment makes the USEPA chosen values of 73 ppm (to represent a worst-case average concentration) and 105 ppm (to represent a worst-case maximum concentration) look quite reasonable even if high by European (EFSA) standards. One issue of note, however: Using 90th percentiles for expected means and maxima minimises the huge variation expected from application to application. As the work of Baril *et al.* (2005) has shown, residue levels are extremely variable in time and place, even when standardised to the same substrate. A factor of 10 or even 100 is expected between different trials. In that context, the large variation seen in the Stahlschmidt and Brühl work tabulated above is not unexpected.

4.4.2 Neonicotinoid Residues in Bees

Some data exist on neonicotinoid residues on bees specifically. However, these data were collected in the context of passive hive monitoring projects. Because of the uncertainty as to how fresh the samples were and the likely loss of residues through 'weathering' (rapid loss for imidacloprid was demonstrated by Schott *et al.* (2017)), these results are qualitatively interesting but do not replace the body of work described above, much of which was carried out with the express purpose of determining reasonable residue values for risk assessment purposes. Note that the reported values below are clearly not corrected for application rates.

Calatayud-Vernich *et al.* (2016) collected dead honeybees outside of hives situated in a mixed agricultural region of Spain dominated by citrus and stone fruit. Samples were collected at flowering time when we would expect spraying to be at a minimum. Samples were only collected every week (or at best twice a week if mortality was high), so pesticide degradation was very likely to have happened. Residues of chlorpyrifos and dimethoate were the most often encountered, followed by imidacloprid – despite the fact that the product was under severe restriction at the time. Apiary samples had four different insecticides on average. Maximum concentrations of the most common insecticides were 0.751 ppm (chlorpyrifos), 0.403 ppm (dimethoate) and 0.223 ppm (imidacloprid).

Kiljanek *et al.* (2016) reported concentrations of a large number of pesticides detected in bee samples submitted after poisoning incidents in Poland. Samples from a total of 73 incidents were analysed. The most frequently detected insecticides were chlorpyrifos, dimethoate and clothianidin. When detected, average levels of most pesticides ranged from 0.002 ppm to 0.399 ppm although one fungicide (chlorothalonil) averaged 14.3 ppm. Maximum levels ranged from from 0.002 ppm to 3.29 ppm for all but chlorothalonil with a maximum of 55.8 ppm (typical application rates in fruit trees are 2-3 kg a.i./ha).

Bacandritsos *et al.* (2010) collected bees from apiary-reported June/July mortality events, reports of aberrant behaviour (trembling), and hive depopulation. Three of five samples were positive for imidacloprid, ranging from 0.014 to 0.039 ppm. The hives belonged to migratory beekeepers and were thought to have been sited on olive, citrus and other fruit orchards previously. Unfortunately, these authors did not look for the presence of imidacloprid metabolites. In their study, Codling *et al.* (2016) found that residues of the various neonicotinoid metabolites typically exceeded the quantity of parent material.

4.4.3 Neonicotinoid Residues in Insects after a Seeding Operation

Much of the use of neonicotinoid insecticides is in the form of seed treatments. It is much more difficult to predict what the possible insect residue levels will be if herbivorous insects are exposed through consumption of different plant parts rather than through direct contact with a spray application but we can surmise that their residue loads will be lower. However, the main route

of contamination of flying insects following a seed treatment use of neonicotinoids is through dust drifting from the planting equipment. The risk is thought to be higher under high humidity conditions, (Girolami et al. 2013; Halm et al. 2012). These authors theorized that the high humidity may help in the absorption of the systemic insecticides through the insect cuticles. If so, the effect may be dependent on the water solubility of different products. It is also likely that high humidity at the time of application will allow pesticide dust to more effectively stick to the bodies of the insects. In North America, it is customary for farmers to use talc or graphite as lubricants in their seeding machinery (e.g. Krupke et al. 2012). Although this increases the visibility of the dust cloud, it is unknown whether it changes the fundamentals of exposure. Tapparo *et al.* (2012) conducted experiments where individual bees were captured after merely flying over a corn field in the process of being sown in order to reach a food source (the entire test running for 1h). They measured amounts of 0.078-1.240 ug/bee (N=5, mean=0.570 ug/bee) for clothianidin at 1.25 mg a.i./seed and 0.128-0.302 ug/bee (N=4, mean=0.189 ug/bee) for thiamethoxam at 1 mg a.i. / seed. The same authors reported maximum concentrations of 3.65 µg/bee (approx. 36.5 ppm) obtained in previous work with imidacloprid-treated seed. These concentrations were thought to be primarily from bees picking up dust as they flew although several other routes of exposure such as guttation fluids and ingestion of contaminated nectar and pollen – are recognised. After a few hours and normal activities in the hive, residues had dropped by an order of magnitude. (Note that although of no relevance to the current assessment, the bulk of the insecticide-laden dust on bee surfaces was thought to have been dislodged though normal hive activities. With potentially thousands of foragers returning to a hive, grams of insecticide can thus be transferred efficiently to the hive environment.) Assuming a bee weight of approximately 100mg, the maximum amount recorded by Tapparo et al. (2012) represents a concentration of 12.4 ppm. The authors do not provide a concentration per seed for imidacloprid but, based on U.S. labels of the same product (Gaucho), corn treatment was said to be 1.34 mg/seed. Tapparo et al. (2012) give seeding rates of 66,660 seeds per ha; this represents an application rate of 89.3 g imidacloprid/ha. This means that the RUD value standardised to 1 kg a.i./ha was approximately 409 ppm. Similarly, the more recent clothianidin results give a maximum RUD value of 149 ppm and mean of 68.5 ppm after the one hour seeding exposure; for thiamethoxam, the RUD had a max of 45.3 ppm and an average of 28.4 ppm. From a 'residue per unit dose' point of view, it appears that seeding results in higher contamination of insects than an equivalent spray application but, due to the lower per ha rates of application for seed treatments, we can expect a comparable level of contamination in nontarget arthropods. Given that bees could be exposed to contaminated dust for a period longer than the 1 hour on test (or duration of seeding), both in the air and once the dust has settled on plant surfaces, it becomes difficult to separate exposure from dust from dietary routes – e.g. consumption of nectar, pollen, guttation fluids and other plant juices, and drinking of dew and from other contaminated water sources such as puddles (Samson-Robert et al. 2014).

Krupke *et al.* (2012) analysed samples of honeybees from kills associated with the planting of treated maize seed. Clothianidin levels in dead and dying bees were much lower than in the
Tapparo *et al.* (2012) study, ranging from .0038 to .013 ppm. However, Tapparo *et al.* (2012) also mentioned that dead bees sampled in the hive after sowing had residue levels below detection limits. Clearly, the more relevant scenario from a risk assessment point of view are levels of insecticide dust retained by flying insects as they alight on nearby vegetation at dusk and become prey to foraging bats.

4.4.4 Neonicotinoid Residues in Insects not Associated with Recent Applications.

Hladik *et al.* (2016) collected native bees either in grasslands in proximity to wheat fields or inside the wheat fields proper in northeastern Colorado. Most samples were collected from late July to early September a long time after any seeding operation. Thiamethoxam was the most frequently detected neonicotinoid. The highest concentrations were detected in bees from grasslands. They averaged 0.1 ppm and had a sample maximum of 0.31 ppm. Imidacloprid and clothianidin were also detected but at lower concentrations.

Codling *et al.* (2016) collected live bee samples from apparently healthy apiaries with a mixture of canola, forage crops such as alfalfa and wild flowers within 10 km of the hives. Clothianidin was the most frequently detected (56% of bee samples), presumably from past canola treatments. Maximum measured concentrations of clothianidin were 0.079 ppm (reported as 7.1 ng/bee for a 90 mg bee).

Botias *et al.* (2017) collected foraging bumblebees in mixed agricultural lands of southeast England with canola, winter wheat, barley and pasture being the dominant crops. Others were collected from nearby urban environments. Levels of neonicotinoid insecticides were lower than those reported by Hladik *et al.* (2016). The maximum residue for any pesticide detected was 0.054 ppm – the fungicide boscalid from an urban site. Combined residues did not exceed 0.1 ppm in any of the species sampled.

4.4.5 Choosing Reasonable Residue Values for Risk Assessment Purposes

For acute exposure scenarios following a spray or seeding event, we propose to use the RUD value of 105 ppm for spray applications in keeping with US EPA procedures. We will use 409 ppm for seeding operations following the work of Tapparo *et al.* (2012).

For sub-chronic exposures, (weeks to a few months with repeated exposure to treated areas) we propose to use the EFSA recommendation of 21 ppm. This value will be used for both foliar and seed-treatment applications. This is predicated on the fact that the dust produced at seeding is likely to be washed off/rubbed off fairly quickly so that the very high insect levels expected immediately after seeding are probably short-lived.

Finally, to assess season-long risk in bats not necessarily associated with agricultural crops, or at least not associated with any recently-treated crops, we believe that a value of one ppm is appropriate. There is not much data here on which to base a reasonable value. However, even

with limited sampling, Hladik *et al.* (2016) reported a sample maximum of 0.31 pm in bees from grasslands in agricultural landscapes. This level of contamination might be expected in bats that have a short or even a negligible exposure to agricultural fields. It will clearly be under-protective in the case of bats that spend any part of their active season in proximity to crops subject to treatment.

4.5 Estimating the Daily Consumption of Insects by Bats

Based on the review by Kunz *et al.* (2011), insectivorous bat species consume approximately 25% of their body weight in insects for subsistence in captivity. However, field metabolic rates in times of peak energy demand (lactation in females) have given values of 70% of body mass (12 g Brazilian Free-tailed Bat – Tadarida brasiliensis) and 125% of body mass (7.9 g Little Brown Myotis – Myotis lucifugus). This value is likely to be higher still for the smaller species.

Because bats will not continuously be at peak energy demands, we relied on the recent review of existing doubly-labeled water studies by Bullen (2017). A combined regression for active bats including both sexes as well as non-pregnant, pregnant and lactating females gave the following regression for FMR (Field Metabolic Rate):

FMR (KJ/day): 5.7981 * (mass in g)0.7791

Based on the compendium of bat body masses compiled by Norberg and Rayner (1987), we chose a body mass of 4.2g given for the California Myotis. Most of the myotis species (a large component of the bat fauna in Canada) range between four and eight grams. Given the nature of metabolic rates in mammals, it can be expected that food consumption as a proportion of body weight will be highest for the smallest species. It is therefore important to choose a species at the low end of the bodyweight range in order to be protective of other species (given everything else equal; we know nothing of differing toxicological susceptibility). In addition, small-bodied species are probably more at risk by virtue of the fact they have fewer reserves to rely on in times of pesticide-induced illness or food shortage or both.

For a 4.2 g California Myotis, this equals to an average energy expenditure of 17.7 KJ/day. Based on Smit (2009) we can expect insect food to contain 21.9 KJ/g (dw) or 6.46 KJ/g (wet weight) assuming a 70.5% moisture content. The average assimilation efficiency for shrews and bats is given as 88% by Smit (2009). Based on these estimates, the daily average intake of the bat will be: (17.7 kJ/day / 6.46 kJ/g) * (1/0.88) = 3.12 g of insects per day. This represents about 74% of its body mass.

We therefore propose to use documented peak daily energy demand at 125% of bodyweight for the acute scenario (despite the fact that this will underestimate peak demand in the smaller myotis species we are modeling), and 74% for the sub-chronic (summer-long) estimate. For a chronic (i.e. one year) intake, we estimated an average daily intake of 41% of body mass. This assumes 6 months of activity and 6 months of torpor with metabolic needs approximately 1/10th of active (Speakman and Rowland 1999). This is because temperate insectivorous bats store fat for hibernation not so much from hyperphagy (since insect levels tend to be lower at that time of the year) but through control of their energy demands through torpor.

4.6 Effect Levels from Toxicological Studies

Toxicity endpoints are used to establish toxicity thresholds, which are levels of a compound below which adverse effects are not observed. In order to identify likely effect levels based on toxicological studies, we relied primarily on regulatory reviews of the pesticides carried out by the European Union (European Commission (EC)), the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA), the US Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA), the Canadian Pest Management Regulatory Authority (PMRA) and California Department of Pesticide Regulation (CaDPR). Those reviews were obtained opportunistically up to the end of 2017. Regulatory bodies can be inconsistent in how much they report and when, following their review of submitted industry studies; this makes it useful to track down multiple reviews of industry data given that the full studies are not made public. When reviews of the same toxicological studies by different regulatory bodies are in agreement, this provides added confidence in the endpoints reported (although the increasing harmonization of US and Canadian reviews reduces the value of comparing those two reviews). In addition to regulatory reviews, we relied on our original literature search of Gibbons et al. (2015) and the recently published update (Pisa et al. 2017) but re-accessed the original publications in order to review effect levels and present them in a clearer fashion. The recent reviews by Cimino et al. (2016), Han et al. (2018) as well as Mikolić and Karačonii (2018) also proved useful to see whether key references might have been missed. Newer references were added where relevant. Where different values were derived for males and females, the lower of the two was chosen. We favoured oral dosing studies because intraperitoneal exposures are typically difficult to compare to gavage or dietary intakes without a detailed knowledge of pharmacokinetics in the test species. We decided to ignore dermal exposure for the time being although we recognize this may be an important route of exposure in some cases – e.g. contact with foliage in the course of foraging, rub-off during prey handling etc. We restricted our review primarily to in vivo dosing studies although in vitro studies are mentioned where relevant. In studying the potential for immune or endocrine effects of chemicals, in vitro systems are commonly used. For example, concerns have recently been raised with respect to the endocrine effects of thiamethoxam, thiacloprid and imidacloprid (Caron-Beaudoin and Sanderson 2016; Caron-Beaudoin *et al.* 2017) as well as the immunosuppressive effects of clothianidin (DiPrisco et al. 2017) using cell lines. In vitro methods have also shown the potential for effects on different mammalian cholinergic subtypes and have raised guestions about the adequacy of in vivo testing to date. However, results from in vitro tests are seldom if ever used directly in human or wildlife risk assessments. Rather, they are used as triggers for more realistic in vivo studies or for directing epidemiological investigations.

Given the mode of action of neonicotinoids, it isn't surprising that neurotoxicity has been a focus of several investigations. Abreu-Villaça and Levin (2017) provide a recent review of the neurotoxic effects of neonicotinoids (as well as other insecticide classes). They warn that most of the studies have been on imidacloprid and that few studies have looked at the neurotoxicity of neonicotinoid metabolites despite the fact that some of those metabolites are known to have a higher affinity than the parent chemical to mammalian neural receptors. EU regulators (EFSA 2013) have expressed concerns based on in vitro receptor work (e.g. Kimura-Kuroda *et al.* 2012, 2016) that excitation or desensitization of specific nicotine acetylcholine receptors – as occurs with exposure to nicotine – could cause developmental neurological effects. They believe that studies of delayed neurotoxicity effects that were submitted for both imidacloprid and acetamiprid indicate a risk. An industry-led review (Sheets *et al.* 2016), following a strict protocol that caused the rejection of a number of independent studies, disputed those concerns and concluded that neonicotinoid insecticides, despite their known affinity to different cholinergic receptor types, 'do not selectively affect the developing nervous system'.

NOAELs or LOAELs (whether mortality or signs of toxicity) are often not provided in summaries of acute toxicity – e.g. LD50 determinations. Ideally, the original industry studies should be reviewed in order to derive dose levels at which clinical intoxication was observed, assuming the observation protocol is adequate. Such intoxication is expected to be biologically relevant in a wild organism and, as discussed above, a credible assessment of wildlife impact should try to predict debilitation as well as death. In the case of pesticides with a neurotoxic mode of action, a very useful study to assess the possibility of debilitation in exposed wildlife is the acute neurotoxicity screen. In theory, this should provide a more consistent measure of functional impairment than simple observation of individuals in the acute lethality studies.

NOAELs have serious limitations as endpoints – largely because they are sample size dependant. This is not a new problem but some useful recent guidance is provided by USEPA (2012b). For example, with an acute dosing study employing six animals per dose group, and a dichotomous response such as whether tremors or ataxia are or are not observed in dosed animals, the 95% upper confidence limit of the NOAEL approaches the EC50. In other words, the NOAEL may actually be the dose at which half of the subjects could be showing an adverse effect had sample sizes been higher. In developmental toxicity studies with 20 litters per dose, it has been shown that the typical response levels at the NOAEL is in the range of 5-20% on average – not 0% as the 'N' in NOAEL would imply. For that reason, statistically-based curve fitting exercises such as the 'Benchmark dose' (BMD) have been proposed (USEPA 2012b). These are levels calculated based on curve-fitting of the data and a defined effect threshold, typically of 5 - 10%. Where calculated, the BMD will be reported rather than the NOAEL. Unfortunately, this was a rare occurrence. The mammalian toxicology literature remains overwhelmingly dominated by the NOAEL concept.

Eidels *et al.* (2016) made use of this concept when acutely dosing Big Brown Bats with the OP neurotoxicant chlorpyrifos. They calculated a lower 95% limit of a BMD10 (the 'benchmark dose'

calculated to give rise to a 10% increase in response – akin to a LOEAL) to be 3.5mg/kg, 5.3mg/kg and 6.6mg/kg for impaired flight, appearance of tremors and impaired movement respectively. The LD50 was estimated to be higher than 60 mg/kg (4 out of 20 deaths at that dose). This suggests that the spread between functionally-important impairment and median lethality is well over a factor of 10, at least in the case of this cholinesterase-inhibiting insecticide.

4.6.1 Imidacloprid

Acute, sub-chronic and chronic effect levels based on regulatory reviews of imidacloprid are summarized in Appendix 1. In some cases, the same studies were interpreted differently by different jurisdictions. Notable is the concern by California EPA (CaDPR 2006) that, because brain morphological changes were seen in the developmental neurotoxicity study at the higher dose of 55 mg/kg but not looked for at lower doses, the reported NOAEL cannot be accepted. In their review of the delayed neurotoxicity study that produced those histopathological changes in the brains of females exposed in utero to 55 mg/kg/day, EFSA similarly expressed concern and recommended that a conservative NOAEL for human protection should be set at 5.5 mg/kg/day (EFSA 2013). This issue is not raised by USEPA in their latest draft evaluation (USEPA 2017). Also absent from discussion is the finding of significantly skewed sex ratios indicating possible endocrine toxicity after 10 days of dosing in one of the rat reproductive studies. Both of these findings are summarized in PMRA (2016) but apparently not used in setting a reference dose.

Other Published Toxicological Studies on Imidacloprid

A number of sub-chronic studies have been carried out by independent researchers but these studies have not lead us to change reference doses established through the regulatory studies. They are nevertheless reported here for the sake of completeness.

Lonare *et al.* (2014) documented locomotor changes and oxidative damage to nerve tissues of rats given 45 mg/kg/day for 28 days. In appearance, the rats were said to show 'dull movements'. No NOAEL was established from these results. In their 90 day feeding study in female rats, Bhardwaj *et al.* (2010) identified several toxicological effects at 20 mg/kg/day, placing a NOAEL at 10 mg/kg/day. Kapoor *et al.* (2011) similarly showed effects on female rat reproductive physiology at 20 mg/kg/day for 90 days with a NOAEL of 10 mg/kg/day. Toor *et al.* (2013) documented liver histopathological effects on mature female rats dosed with 45 mg/kg/day (using formulated material) for four weeks but no such effects at 9 mg/kg/day. Arfat *et al.* (2014) showed effects on bodyweight, as well as kidney and liver effects in mice given 15 mg/kg/day for 15 days. The NOAEL was 10 mg/kg/day. Neonatal rats dosed with 1.1 mg/kg for seven days showed disruptions in thyroid hormone titers (Ibrahim *et al.* 2015).

Bal *et al.* (2012a, b) documented several effects on the male reproductive system of mice starting at 0.5 mg/kg/day for 90 days. Testosterone levels as well as reproductive organ weights were affected

at this low level. DNA breakage and sperm deformities and were also seen at 2 mg/kg/day and 8 mg/kg/day. However, these effects mirrored bodyweight loss which may be a confounding factor. Hafez *et al.* (2016) found effects on sperm motility, vitality and morphology in rats given doses of 45 mg/kg per day or higher for 15 days while Abdel-Rahman Mohamed *et al.* (2017) documented a number of testicular, sperm and related gene expression effects in male rats dosed with 1 mg/kg/ day for 65 days. Loss of bodyweight was also recorded. A NOAEL was not derived in either study. Incidentally, similar effects on sperm quality have been seen in agricultural workers and the effects appeared to correlate with plasma concentrations of imidacloprid (Hafez *et al.* 2016). However, no other pesticides were measured in that study.

Mikolić and Karačonji (2018) reviewed additional reproduction studies in rodents but these did not change any of the effect levels already established.

Kara *et al.* (2015) dosed adult and infant rats by daily gavage with 0.5, 2 and 8 mg/kg/day doses for a three month period. Using a standard water maze test, they documented deficits at 2 mg/kg/ day in the infants and adults – although the effects were more pronounced in the infants. NOAEL dose levels were 0.5 in both cases although the data appear to show a clear dose-response (but NS) between control and 0.5 mg/kg/day. Khalil *et al.* (2017) gavaged adult rats with 0.5 and 1.0 mg/ kg/day for 60 days. Behavioural changes, locomotor and swimming abilities were detected at both dose levels and a LOAEL was therefore <0.5 mg/kg/day.

A highly relevant study – because the only one that we know of actually carried out in a bat species –was that of Hsiao *et al.* (2016). They studied the effects of imidacloprid on the spatial memory of Formosan Leaf-nosed Bats. Three bats were dosed with 20 mg/kg/day for a five day period. After the second dose, echolocation ability was compromised. By the end of the experiment, increased apoptosis of neural cells in different parts of the hippocampus were described. No NOAEL was derived in this experiment.

Bats that go into hibernation are highly dependent on lipogenesis. An interesting study in this regard is the recent one by Sun *et al.* (2016). They fed low levels of imidacloprid to mice concomitantly given a low or high fat diet for a 12 week period. Mice at the lowest feeding levels of imidacloprid (measured at 0.08 mg/kg/day) and given a high fat diet had significantly higher bodyweight gain and a clear trend to higher individual adipose tissue weights (with the exception of mesenteric fat); the other adipose tissue weights were significantly higher at the next higher dose of 0.8 mg/kg/day. Histological analysis revealed that the lowest 0.08 mg/kg/day exposure did result in enlarged adipocyte size in at least one adipose tissue in the mice on a high fat diet. The authors also documented changes in blood leptin levels associated with the lowest dose levels as well as insulin resistance and various changes in mRNA expression involved in metabolic processes – in most cases showing a trend at the lowest dose level and significant changes at 0.8 mg/kg/day.

Weight increases were seen in rats given 0.5 mg/kg/day (but not 1.0 mg/kg/day) for 60 days and there was evidence of hyperglycemia, reduced insulin levels and impaired glycogenesis at both 0.5 and 1.0 mg/kg/day (Khalil *et al.* 2017).

Reference Doses for an Imidacloprid Bat Assessment

Based on the studies summarized above and in Appendix 1, we propose the following starting points for a bat risk assessment:

- For acute exposure scenarios, there is a strong convergence of NOAEL values for three species between 8 to 10 mg/kg. A starting point (reference dose) of 8 mg/kg is therefore reasonable. The neurotoxicity screen shows impairment in the rat at levels that may be as low as 9.3 mg/ kg yet simple observational data suggest the much higher NOAEL of 50 mg/kg. Given that the rat is clearly less sensitive than either the mouse or dog, it is likely that a thorough neurotoxicity screen on either the mouse or dog would uncover deficits much below the reported observed NOAELs of 10 and 7.8 mg/kg respectively. Tremors and other neurotoxic manifestations as were observed in the dog study would clearly be relevant to the survival ability of bats exposed to residues in their food supply. Given that neural cell apoptosis was seen in a bat species at just over twice that dose level, it does not seem overly conservative. There may be a slight margin of safety (approximately 2-7X depending on the study) based on the fact that these endpoints are NOAELs rather than actual effect levels. However, the idea that the true NOAEL has been found may be illusory as described above. In order to account for interspecies differences in sensitivity, we submit that a factor of 10 is amply justified. That is the usual interspecific factor retained in risk assessments. This would place our putative bat acute reference dose at 0.8 mg/kg.
- There is a multiplicity of possible endpoints for sub-chronic exposure scenarios. Based on the regulatory studies summarized above, the lowest NOAEL would be 7.3 mg/kg. In independent studies, there have been repeated findings of effects on sperm quality, motility or vitality in dosed rats. These have been variously reported at dose levels as low as 1 mg/kg/day for 65 days, 2 mg/kg/day for 90 days, 8 mg/kg/day for 90 days and 45 mg/kg/day for 65 days. However, reductions in sperm quality clearly a concern in a human risk assessment did not appear to translate into functional deficits in the chronic reproduction study. NOAELs in most independent studies have hovered around 10 mg/kg/day with a few notable exceptions. Notable is the claim by Khalil *et al.* (2017) that they detected and measured reduced locomotor activity and swimming ability in adult male rats and documented behavioural changes at a dose as low as 0.5 mg/kg/day for 60 days. This appears to be somewhat of an outlier and notwithstanding, we propose on the strength of evidence to use the value of 7.3 mg/kg/day for the dog NOAEL. This would give us a bat reference dose of 0.7 mg/kg/day for bats not substantially different than the acute reference dose. It is difficult to know the real world significance of the metabolic research by Sun *et al.* (2016). Effects on lipogenesis in mice were

documented at dose levels 10 fold lower than our proposed reference dose. Given the critical nature of such metabolic processes for a hibernating species, this is a much needed area of research and will remain a large uncertainty in this risk assessment. Bats and, presumably, other hibernating species may have a very high sensitivity to some environmental contaminants for this reason.

• For chronic exposure scenarios, the value of 5.7 mg/kg/day chosen by most regulatory authorities and based on thyroid toxicity in the rat seems appropriate. This would place a chronic bat reference dose at approximately 0.6 mg/kg/day.

4.6.2 Thiamethoxam

Given that clothianidin is a major environmental metabolite of thiamethoxam, it is debatable whether separate endpoints should be generated for the two insecticides. Nevertheless, endpoints summarized in Appendix 2 were gleaned from a number of regulatory reviews. Differences of opinion between different regulatory bodies are noted in the appendix. It can be illustrative to look at successive reviews by the same agency. For example, PMRA (2001a) proposed to calculate an allowable dietary intake based on a chronic multi-generation rat NOAEL of 0.6 mg/kg/day. Following receipt of a second multi-generation study with a higher NOAEL of 1.6 mg/kg/day, a combined NOAEL of 1.2 mg/kg was derived (method not given); effects on F1 testes were seen at 1.8 mg/kg in the first study and 3.0 mg/kg in the second. USEPA (2011) also proposed this endpoint for the derivation of chronic dietary intakes in humans. PMRA (2007) argued that this endpoint would be relevant to the calculation of reference doses for occupational risk assessments even with short exposures.

Endpoints for Thiamethoxam Chosen for a Bat Risk Assessment

- Very little information exists to allow extraction of useful data (e.g. signs of distress or debilitation) from the acute lethality studies. PMRA and USEPA both use the developmental NOAEL of 34 mg/kg as the departure point for derivation of acute reference doses. Effects seen in laboratory animals (i.e. reduced brain size) are serious enough to be applied to a wildlife risk scenario. PMRA (2007) stress that these effects could happen following a short acute dose. The large spread between NOAEL and LOAEL suggests that this may provide a level of conservatism. On the other hand, the acute NOAEL of 25 mg/kg for clothianidin, a major metabolite of thiamethoxam suggests that a NOAEL of 34 mg/kg for thiamethoxam is reasonable. Applying the usual interspecific extrapolation factor gives a bat reference dose of 3.4 mg/kg.
- Organ toxicity in rats and mice were seen at NOAELs of 1.7 and 1.4 mg/kg respectively in 90 day sub-chronic dosing industry studies (Appendix 2). With shorter (28 day) dosing in rats, the NOAEL for kidney toxicity increased to 8.0 mg/kg. This also corresponds to haematological

effects as well as ovary and testis toxicity in the dog. This value seems to be a more reasonable fit (not as overly conservative) for a wildlife scenario. This would mean a bat reference dose of 0.8 mg/kg.

 The chronic reference dose of 1.2 mg/kg for testicular and sperm effects in male offspring is a reasonable endpoint for a wildlife assessment – especially since effects were seen at an exposure level not much higher than this – 1.8 mg/kg/day. This would suggest a chronic reference dose of 0.12 mg/kg/day. As suggested by the PMRA, this endpoint might be relevant to shorter exposure duration also.

4.6.3 Clothianidin

Available regulatory studies (Appendix 3) suggest that the rat is somewhat insensitive relative to other usual mammal test species. The regulatory reviews of the industry submission for Clothianidin were not as divergent as they were in the case of imidacloprid and thiamethoxam.

Other Published Toxicological Studies on Clothianidin

Hirano *et al.* (2015) administered purified clothianidin (extracted from formulated material) to mice and found that it enhanced anxiety behaviours at the lowest dose tested – a measured estimate of 7.5 mg/kg/day for a four week period. In subsequent research (Hirano *et al.* 2018), they documented increased levels of anxiety following a single oral administration of 5 mg/kg. At the higher dosing level of 50 mg/kg, the mice emitted a high number of distress calls when subjected to the same test environment.

Bal (2012c) documented an increased proportion of abnormal sperm cells in mice given 8 mg/kg/ day for 90 days but with a clear but non-significant trend observed at 2 mg/kg/day. A subsequent study (Bal *et al.* 2013 reviewed in Han *et al.* 2018) found decreased epididymis weights and other testicular effects at 2 mg/kg/day for 90 days. Ozdemir (2014) using a similar protocol to that of Kara *et al.* (2014 – cited above in the imidacloprid section) administered 2, 8 and 24 mg/kg/day to infant and adult rats for 3 months, after which they were tested in a water maze. Infant rats appeared to be affected at the highest dose (NOAEL therefore 8 mg/kg/day) in a recall test only. Adults did not appear to have any consistent memory effects at any of the doses tested.

Based on his own reproductive study in mice, Tanaka (2012) noted (mostly) accelerated development of pup behavior at low and mid doses (15 and 30 mg/kg/day intake during lactation) but saw no effects at the higher dose.

Endpoints for Clothianidin Chosen for a Bat Assessment

• For acute dosing scenarios, the endpoint of 25 mg/kg was the one retained by both USEPA and PMRA. At the higher 50 mg/kg dose, mice exhibit decreased motor activity, tremors and

respiratory difficulties – all clearly relevant to a wildlife exposure scenario. This would place a bat reference dose at 2.5 mg/kg. This does not seem overprotective in light of the work by Hirano *et al.* (2018) who showed neurobehavioural deficits in mice given a single dose of 5 mg/kg. Clearly the type of impairment documented by Hirano *et al.* (2015) is much more subtle than what has been measured in industry studies.

- For the purpose of a bat risk assessment, we submit that a NOAEL of circa 7.5 8 mg/kg/ day is defensible for sub-chronic exposure. This corresponds to effect levels on sperm quality as well as behavioural effects in mice. It is slightly more protective than the 9.8 - 11.5 mg/kg NOAEL retained by North American regulators based on the rat chronic study but higher than the one time 5 mg/kg effect level documented by Hirano *et al.* (2018) or the testicular changes seen at 2 mg/kg/day (see review by Han *et al.* 2018). With the usual 10X factor for interspecies differences, this would put the reference toxicity value at 0.75 mg/kg/day, very much in line with the value we derived for imidacloprid and thiamethoxam.
- For the purpose of a chronic risk assessment, we propose to use the value as for the short-term exposure, 0.75 mg/kg, given the slightly higher NOAEL retained by registration authorities.

4.6.4 Acetamiprid

Data from regulatory summaries are tabulated in Appendix 4.

Other Published Toxicological Studies on Acetamiprid

In a very well described and executed study, Sano *et al.* (2016) administered 1 and 10 mg/kg/day in pregnant mice from day 6 of gestation through to weaning after 21 days of lactation. After the offspring reached sexual maturity, they were put through a series of tests to measure their sexual, aggressive and anxiety behaviours. The lower 1 mg/kg/day dose (but not the higher dose) enhanced aggression and sexual response in the male offspring; this was not due to increased testosterone levels. Both dose levels made the male mice more 'foolhardy' (our choice of words) in that it reduced their open field anxiety and possibly made them hyperactive. Such behaviours in wild mice could increase risk of predation. The authors reviewed many studies that showed nicotine can similarly affect anxiety in a non-monotonic fashion.

Endpoints for Acetamiprid Chosen for a Bat Assessment

- The clear (and only) choice of endpoint for an acute exposure scenario is the NOAEL of 10 mg/ kg based on locomotor ability. This places a bat reference dose at 1 mg/kg.
- For sub-chronic exposure, we concur with the PMRA and EFSA that the neurological effects seen in rat pups at 10 mg/kg/day are relevant endpoints. The NOAEL for that study was 2.5 mg/kg/day and the bat reference dose would be 0.25 mg/kg/day.

- The standard chronic NOAELs are higher (lowest NOAEL is 6.5 mg/kg/day rather than 2.5 mg/kg/day for sub-chronic exposure; we will therefore defer to the latter for chronic exposures also given that any derived sub-chronic benchmark doses logically apply to chronic exposures also.
- The 1 mg/kg/day effect level obtained by Sano *et al.* (2016) brings uncertainty to these proposed NOAEL values. These data have not been incorporated into regulatory assessments as of yet. Because of the unique methodology used by Sano *et al.* (2016), it isn't clear whether this effect is unique to acetamiprid or is common to all neonicotinoids. The lack of a clear dose-response (these effects were not seen at the higher 10 mg/kg/day dose) will undoubtedly prove a challenge from a regulatory point of view.

4.6.5 Thiacloprid

Data from regulatory reviews are summarized in Appendix 5. The EU (2004b) did not appear to require neurotoxicity studies which seems surprising in light of the insecticide's mode of action.

Other Published Toxicological Studies on Thiacloprid

In a recent study (Babecová *et al.* 2017), 60 ovulating female mice were mated and dosed with either 0.03 or 3 mg/kg during the pre-implantation period (days 1-3 of pregnancy). At that point, the mice were euthanized and blastocysts flushed out of their reproductive tracts. The authors report finding retardation in blastocyst development at both dose levels relative to control. There was no effect, however, on the incidence of dead blastocysts. Unfortunately, the results are difficult to interpret because the statistical analysis of the data appears to be faulty, there being no consideration of individual effects (i.e. all blastocysts considered independent regardless of donors).

Han *et al.* in their 2018 review were able to find a few other studies on genotoxic endpoints for both thiacloprid as well as imidacloprid. However, the dose levels were higher than effect levels already reported for other endpoints.

Endpoints for Thiacloprid Chosen for a Bat Assessment

- For acute exposure scenarios, the NOAEL of 3.1 mg/kg based on locomotor ability is the obvious and most relevant choice for a bat risk assessment. The bat reference value for acute exposure scenarios would be 0.31 mg/kg.
- Sub-chronic effects in both the rat and rabbit are reported with NOAEL values around 2 mg/ kg/day. This is probably not overprotective; effects on liver, testes, and prostate were shown to occur at 8.5 mg/kg/day (three months) in dogs with no NOAEL reported for that study. The bat reference value for sub-chronic exposure scenarios would be 0.20 mg/kg with the 10X interspecies extrapolation factor.

• For chronic intake, the NOAEL of 1.2 mg/kg/day is the logical endpoint; liver and thyroid toxicity as well as nervous system degeneration are serious deficits relevant in a wildlife risk assessment. The bat reference value for chronic exposure scenarios would be 0.12 mg/kg. The very small spacing between the NOAEL and LOAEL (2X) leaves a very small margin of safety.

4.7 Summary of Proposed Toxicity Reference Values for Bat Risk Assessment Purposes

Based on the information reviewed above and summarized in Appendices 1-5, here are the proposed values in order to assess the potential direct risks of neonic insecticides to bats through the dietary route.

Table 4.4 Summary of the toxicity reference values derived for acute, sub-chronic and chronic bat
assessments.

Active ingredient	Acute reference dose (mg/kg)	Sub-chronic reference dose (mg/kg/day)	Chronic reference dose (mg/kg/day)	
Imidacloprid	0.8	0.70	0.6	
Thiamethoxam	3.4	0.80	0.12	
Clothianidin	2.5	0.75	0.75	
Acetamiprid	1.0	0.25	0.25	
Thiacloprid	0.31	0.20	0.12	

4.7.1 Immune System Effects

Because of the current issue of white-nose syndrome and claims that have been made with respect to a temporal overlap between several wildlife diseases and the advent of systemic insecticides, it is particularly relevant to look at potential effects of neonicotinoids on immune function to see whether the usual effect levels documented in industry data submissions and other independent studies based on neurotoxicity or reproduction may not be protective enough. The field of immunotoxicology, especially the impact of xenobiotics on the developing immune system is in its infancy (Kreitinger *et al.* 2016). The immune system is complex and there are a plethora of different tests and measures that are carried out. We will not attempt to prioritise one type of effect over another but just report results as found by different investigators. Evidence was reviewed earlier that immune disruption may be contributing to impacts on pollinators; there is also some indication that imidacloprid could be immunotoxic in birds (Lopez-Antia *et al.* 2015).

However, the situation in bats is also much more complex than in standard mammalian laboratory models. Bats appear to downregulate some parts of their immune systems during hibernation (Meteyer *et al.* 2012). Indeed, it has been suggested by these authors that the reason white-nosed syndrome is so devastating in North American bat species is that the pathogen is allowed to

proliferate largely unchecked during the bat's torpor; upon post-hibernal emergence, bats show a massive inflammatory response and consequent immune-mediated tissue destruction called the "immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome" or IRIS.

Disruption of the immune response in any living organism can have devastating consequences; heterothermic bats appear to already be maintaining a fine balance in their immune system.

Imidacloprid

Mohany *et al.* (2012) documented changes in a number of cellular immunological function markers as well as spleen and thymus histopathology in adult rats receiving 0.21 mg a.i./kg/day for 28 days. However, imidacloprid was administered as the 20% Confidor Bayer formulation and the authors could not control for any possible effects of the formulants. Most of these effects were modulated/ reversed by concurrent administration of the antioxidant thymoquinone which fits a frequent pattern with neonicotinoid insecticides – cellular damage through the formation of reactive oxygen species.

Badgujar *et al.* (2013) showed that daily administration (for 28 days) of 5 mg/kg or higher in mice had immunosuppressive effects as a result of cytotoxic effects of imidacloprid on T cells. The NOAEL effect in this study was 2.5 mg/kg/day. Both bodyweight and spleen weights were decreased at the higher dose of 10 mg/kg/day.

Clearly, after any interspecies uncertainty factor is applied, the fact that effects on the immune system of rats were seen at 0.21 mg/kg/day places a reference dose much lower than what has been proposed in Table 4.4. At this juncture, however, we do not believe that sufficient studies have been carried out to allow the use of an immune system endpoint in the formal risk assessment being presented here. Rather, it will be appropriate, in reviewing the results of our assessment to consider that effects on the immune system (as seen with imidacloprid for example) could be occurring at dose levels an order of magnitude below more 'standard' toxicity endpoints being modeled.

Acetamiprid

Mondal *et al.* (2009) found that dose levels of 25 mg/kg/day for 28 days affected humoralmediated immunocompetency in rats. Cellular immune response was affected only at higher doses. The material was administered as a 20% formulation and it isn't clear whether the dose level was expressed as product or active ingredient. (However, a later study – Mondal *et al.* 2011 – describes similar signs of toxicity at the same dosage levels of the active ingredient.) The 25 mg/kg/day dose produced mild salivation but no other visible signs. Tremors, excessive salivation and hyperaesthesia were observed at the highest dose level of 200 mg/kg/day. Shakthi Devan *et al.* (2014) documented effects of formulated (a 20% SP-soluble powder, Nagarjuna Agrichem Ltd., Hyderabad, India) acetamiprid on immune function (lymphoproliferative response towards B cell mitogen and nitrite production of macrophages) following 90 days of dosing with 22 mg a.i./kg/day. The NOAEL for this study was 11 mg/kg/day. No effects were seen on spleen, thyroid or mesenteric lymph node weights or histopathology. Unfortunately, there were no controls for a potential effect of the formulants on the response seen.

In the case of acetamiprid, it appears that the dose levels that have been shown to cause immune toxicity are in fact higher than those derived from more 'standard' endpoints in the corpus of mammalian toxicology studies.



Caption: Northern long-eared Myotis foraging. Photo credit: Sherri and Brock Fenton.

4.8 Summarizing the Elements of the Direct Risk Assessment

A common measure of risk assessment is the extent to which the various derived reference doses have been exceeded once exposure has been estimated. This is best conveyed as a risk ratio, for example, the ETR (Exposure Toxicity Ratio). It is simply the expected exposure divided by the reference dose. Any ratio over one implies a concern; the higher the ratio, the more reduced any margin of safety brought about by any conservative assumptions made in assessing exposure or toxicity. Unlike a human risk assessment, we have not made this assessment particularly conservative. For example, the only uncertainty factor that was introduced was a factor of 10 to account for possible interspecies differences in susceptibility. Although the reference doses were based on NOAELs, the literature is clear about the fact that, with the small number of animals used in most toxicology studies, the NOAEL is not a true no-effect level but denotes an incipient effect in anywhere between 5 - 50% of the population at large.

Results of the acute exposure scenario are outlined in the tables that follow:

Active ingredient	Application type	Max application rate (g a.i./ha) ^a	Insect RUD value (ppm/ kg a.i. application) ^b	Insect residue values (ppm) ^c	Residue intake in mg/kg ^d	Bat acute reference dose (mg/kg) ^e	ETR (Exposure/ Toxicity ratio) ^f
Clothianidin	Airblast	210	105	22.1	28	2.5	11
Clothianidin	Foliar	350	105	36.8	46	2.5	18
Clothianidin	Seed treatment	99	409	40.5	51	2.5	20
Acetamiprid	Airblast	168	105	17.6	22	1	22
Acetamiprid	Foliar	84	105	8.8	11	1	11
Acetamiprid	Seed treatment	45	409	18.4	23	1	23
Thiacloprid	Airblast	210	105	22.1	28	0.31	89
Imidacloprid	Airblast	91	105	9.6	12	0.8	15
Imidacloprid	Foliar	330	105	34.7	43	0.8	54
Imidacloprid	Seed treatment	196	409	80.2	100	0.8	125
Thiamethoxam	Airblast	96	105	10.1	13	3.4	4
Thiamethoxam	Foliar	700	105	73.5	92	3.4	27
Thiamethoxam	Seed treatment	41.7	409	17.1	21	3.4	6

Table 4.5. Results of an acute risk assessment for a small myotis species weighing 4.2 g and feeding at peak FMR equivalent to FW food intake of 125% of mass per day.

^a From Table 4.1; ^b From section 4.4.5 and the preceding sections; ^c Product of columns a and b ^d Calculated for the scenario given: A small myotis species weighing 4.2g and feeding at peak FMR equivalent to FW food intake of 125% of mass per day, ^e Based on the relevant sections pertaining to each active ingredient; ^f Column d / column e.

Table 4.6. Results for the sub-chronic assessment. In that scenario, the same myotis species (4.2g) is foraging to 74% of its bodyweight daily over the course of the summer period (approximately three months).

Active ingredient	Application type	Max application rate (g a.i./ ha)	Insect RUD value (ppm/ kg a.i. application)	Insect residue values (ppm)	Residue intake in mg/kg	Bat sub- chronic reference dose (mg/kg)	ETR (Exposure/ Toxicity ratio)
Clothianidin	Airblast	210	21	4.41	3.26	0.75	4.4
Clothianidin	Foliar	350	21	7.35	5.44	0.75	7.3
Clothianidin	Seed treatment	99	21	2.08	1.54	0.75	2.1
Acetamiprid	Airblast	168	21	3.53	2.61	0.25	10.4
Acetamiprid	Foliar	84	21	1.76	1.31	0.25	5.2
Acetamiprid	Seed treatment	45	21	0.95	0.70	0.25	2.8
Thiacloprid	Airblast	210	21	4.41	3.26	0.2	16.3
Imidacloprid	Airblast	91	21	1.91	1.41	0.7	2.0
Imidacloprid	Foliar	330	21	6.93	5.13	0.7	7.3
Imidacloprid	Seed treatment	196	21	4.12	3.05	0.7	4.4
Thiamethoxam	Airblast	96	21	2.02	1.49	0.8	1.9
Thiamethoxam	Foliar	700	21	14.70	10.88	0.8	13.6
Thiamethoxam	Seed treatment	41.7	21	0.88	0.65	0.8	0.8

Table 4.7. Results from a chronic (year-long) exposure. In this scenario, bats are taking 41% of their body mass per day. This is meant to be an 'amortised' value that accounts for six months of activity and six months of torpor.

Active ingredient	Application type	Max application rate (g a.i./ha)	Insect RUD value (ppm/ kg a.i. application)	Insect residue values (ppm)	Residue intake in mg/kg	Bat chronic reference dose (mg/ kg)	ETR (Exposure/ Toxicity ratio)
Clothianidin	Airblast	210	1	0.21	0.09	0.75	0.11
Clothianidin	Foliar	350	1	0.35	0.14	0.75	0.19
Clothianidin	Seed treatment	99	1	0.10	0.04	0.75	0.05
Acetamiprid	Airblast	168	1	0.17	0.07	0.25	0.28
Acetamiprid	Foliar	84	1	0.08	0.03	0.25	0.14
Acetamiprid	Seed treatment	45	1	0.05	0.02	0.25	0.07
Thiacloprid	Airblast	210	1	0.21	0.09	0.12	0.72
Imidacloprid	Airblast	91	1	0.09	0.04	0.12	0.31
Imidacloprid	Foliar	330	1	0.33	0.14	0.6	0.23
Imidacloprid	Seed treatment	196	1	0.20	0.08	0.6	0.13
Thiamethoxam	Airblast	96	1	0.10	0.04	0.12	0.33
Thiamethoxam	Foliar	700	1	0.70	0.29	0.12	2.39
Thiamethoxam	Seed treatment	41.7	1	0.04	0.02	0.12	0.14

Based on these tabulated assessments, the risk is largely driven by insect residue values and is therefore highest when/if bats forage in or near recently treated crops. In the case of the acute scenario, the defined risk threshold is exceeded in every pesticide and application type; up to 100 fold in one case and more than 20 fold in several other cases. The acute reference dose is meant to be the dose at which motor ability of an exposed bat will not be impaired. Because this is based on crude testing in rats, it is likely that even a slight impairment may have much more serious consequences in a flying mammal that relies on complex echolocation ability and intricate flying manoeuvres to capture its prey and avoid obstacles. It is noteworthy that, in most of the exposure scenarios tabulated, the 20 mg/kg dose rate shown to impair echolocation ability in Formosan Leaf-nosed Bats (Hsiao *et al.* 2016) is exceeded. In that work, impairment in memorizing a regular flight pattern appeared as early as on the second day of dosing. Our calculations therefore support these researchers' opinion that: "... agricultural pesticides may pose severe threats to the survival of echolocation bats."

Some of the rat toxicological data on imidacloprid hint at the margin of safety between a NOAEL derived from the standard motor activity screen and more serious impairment (Appendix 1). Based on the NOAEL and LOAEL, significantly impaired motor activity starts between 12 and 42 mg/kg. Tremors, indicative of much more serious motor impairment start between 50 and 100 mg/kg –

again based on the NOAEL and LOAEL. In the rat, therefore, progressing from a significantly altered motor activity score to outright debilitation such as tremors represents an approximate threefold increase in dose. Given that the NOAEL for motor ability is exceeded by factors often higher than 20 fold and up to 100 fold, it is clear that we should be concerned. Risk quotients of that magnitude will remove any 'safety margin' we have built in to the assessment to account for the fact we use a NOAEL value and the interspecies extrapolation factor. The risk of acute intoxications of foraging bats is highly plausible – as is the risk of sub-chronic intoxications in the course of a summer.

Because the chronic toxicity reference levels are not that much lower than the sub-chronic ones but the average level of contamination of invertebrates 'amortised' over an entire year is much lower, we find that the chronic risk to bats is less of an issue – at least based on the standard toxicity endpoints. Clearly, effects on immune function or effects on lipogenesis and metabolism hinted at in some of the studies reviewed above could be game changers if they occurred in exposed bats and made them more susceptible to white-nose syndrome or other pathogens.

4.9. Uncertainties Associated with a Bat-centric Assessment

Some of the uncertainties associated with a bat-specific pesticide assessment are well recognised and have been summarized in previous work, notably the assessment of the two organophosphorous and carbamate orchard insecticides by Stahlschmidt and Brühl. (2012). As these authors indicated, there is no evidence that bats are necessarily more toxicologically sensitive than murine species to pesticides as judged by a comparison of a very few acute toxicity endpoints. A notable exception here would be an increased susceptibility of bats to bio-accumulating substances because of the potential for sudden release during hibernation.

However, as discussed above, bats are likely to be more at risk (functionally sensitive) than the standard laboratory model species given equivalent doses or exposed to equivalent concentrations in food. As several other researchers interested in risk from chemicals (e.g. Clark and Shore 2001, Stahlschmidt and Brühl 2012, Secord *et al.* 2015b) have already discussed, bats have high energetic needs, a long life-span and low reproductive output. They are highly dependent on torpor, diurnally and seasonally – a process under fine hormonal control that can easily be disrupted. Their gregarious habits make them hugely susceptible to pathogens emphasizing the critical role of immune function, a system very much complicated by their seasonal hibernation.

Secord *et al.* (2015b) also postulate another mechanism by which bats (and other hibernating species) could be uniquely affected: disruption of torpor, either through effects on the thyroid or prostaglandin systems. Regulatory toxicology testing has shown that imidacloprid, thiamethoxam and thiacloprid have shown thyroid toxicity (appendices 1, 2 and 5). Kugathas *et al.* (2015)

identified that imidacloprid (amongst several other pesticides) show prostaglandin antagonism – at a level just below that of aspirin. As pointed out by Secord *et al.* (2015a), the relevance of this possible pathway needs to be researched fully.

As highlighted above, possible low level effects of neonicotinoids on lipogenesis and sexual aggression and behaviour are interesting and need to be researched further. Given the considerable exposure to neonicotinoids in the human population, we trust that some of these aspects will indeed be investigated further.

Finally, bats (much like humans) are not exposed to neonicotinoid insecticides in isolation but, rather show exposure to a number of other contaminants such as industrial chemicals, pharmaceuticals and other personal care products (Secord *et al.* 2015b); in the case of bats, this likely happens when they forage over heavily-contaminated areas such as sewage treatment plants, outfalls and constructed wetlands.

5. Conclusions

Based on the science available to date, there is evidence to support the claim that bats are being negatively affected by neonicotinoid insecticides in several different ways, indirectly through reduction in insect abundance and directly through impairment.

Despite being generalists, bats are highly dependent on an abundant supply of insects in the right size class. Their foraging expenditures are such that they require high insect densities in order to provide a net energetic balance and their echolocation system limits the size range of insects available to them. Reduced prey availability will cause bats to stop foraging altogether and wait for better conditions. There is current evidence for reduced insect densities associated with agricultural intensification. Although this intensification predated the neonicotinoid class of insecticides, there is increasing evidence that neonicotinoids are worsening the situation and hastening insect declines. This is because of their persistence, mobility and systemic nature, their very high invertebrate toxicity as well as their indiscriminate use in prophylactic treatments. Most of the evidence to date for a neonicotinoid-accelerated decline is for terrestrial insects (e.g. pollinators, butterflies, predators and parasitoids). However the extent and level of aquatic contamination from neonicotinoid insecticides as well as the heavy use of surface water by many of our bat species suggest that a reduction in aquatic emerging insects is a key aspect of the bat vs. neonicotinoid insecticide question – indeed as has been shown to be the case with insectivorous bird species (Hallman et al. 2014). The impact of neonicotinoid insecticides is very much extended both in time and space compared to the aquatic impacts from older products such as organophosphorous or pyrethroid insecticides. There is evidence that entire watersheds are being contaminated at damaging levels on a year-long basis.

In addition, the best available evidence strongly suggests that neonicotinoid insecticides are affecting bats directly. Despite the fact that these insecticides tend to be of lower toxicity than some of their predecessors (e.g. many organophosphorous insecticides previously registered), bats can be exposed to toxic levels, especially on the short and medium term (i.e. acute and summer-long exposures). There is a real potential for bats to be acutely affected if they forage in or on the edges of treated fields or tree crops. Levels of residues expected, whether from foliar, air blast or seed treatment uses are high enough to put bats at risk of motor impairment and death. It is somewhat counter-intuitive that risk can be as high as or higher from seed treatments than from sprays applications. This is because of the high amount of dust generated in the seeding process. Because seed treatments are currently used prophylactically on a large proportion of the total crop area for our major field crops (e.g. corn, soy, cereals, oilseeds), there will be a risk to bats on most of our agricultural crop area.



Hoary Bat. Photo by Sherri and Brock Fenton.

Literature Cited

Abdel-Rahman Mohamed, A., W.A.M. Mohamed, and S.I. Khater 2017. Imidacloprid Induces Various Toxicological Effects Related to the Expression of 3β-HSD, NR5A1, and OGG1 Genes in Mature and Immature Rats. Environmental Pollution 221: 15–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envpol.2016.08.082.

Abreu-Villaça, Y., and E.D. Levin. 2017. Developmental Neurotoxicity of Succeeding Generations of Insecticides. Environment International 99: 55–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2016.11.019.

Alaux, C., J.L. Brunet, C. Dussaubat, F. Mondet, S. Tchamitchan, M. Cousin, J. Brillard, A. Baldy, L.P. Belzunces, and Y. Le Conte. 2010. Interactions between Nosema Microspores and a Neonicotinoid Weaken Honeybees (Apis Mellifera). Environmental Microbiology 12(3): 774–82. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-2920.2009.02123.x.

Anderson, J.C., C. Dubetz, and V. P. Palace. 2015. Neonicotinoids in the Canadian aquatic environment: a literature review on current use products with a focus on fate, exposure, and biological effects. Sci Total Environ 505, 409e422.

Anthony E.L.P., M.H. Stack, and T.H. Kunz. 1981. Night Roosting and the Nocturnal Time Budget of the Little Brown Bat, Myotis lucifugus: Effects of Reproductive Status, Prey Density, and Environmental Conditions. Oecologia (Berl) 51: 151 156

Arfat, Y., N. Mahmood, M.U. Tahir, M. Rashid, S. Anjum, F. Zhao, D.J. Li, Y.L. Sun, L. Hu, C. Zhihao, and C.Yin. 2014. Effect of Imidacloprid on Hepatotoxicity and Nephrotoxicity in Male Albino Mice. Toxicology Reports 1: 554–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxrep.2014.08.004.

Aufauvre, J., B. Misme-Aucouturier, B. Viguès, C. Texier, F. Delbac, and N. Blot. 2014. Transcriptome Analyses of the Honeybee Response to Nosema ceranae and Insecticides. PLoS ONE 9, e91686. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0091686.

Babeľová, J.,Z. Šefčíková, Š. Čikoš, A. Špirková, V. Kovaříková, J. Koppel, A. V. Makarevich, P. Chrenek, and D. Fabian. 2017. Exposure to neonicotinoid insecticides induces embryotoxicity in mice and rabbits. Toxicology 392: 71–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2017.10.011

Bacandritsos N., A. Granato, G. Budge, I. Papanastasiou, E. Roinioti, M. Caldon, C. Falcaro, A. Gallina, and F. Mutinelli. 2010. Sudden deaths and colony population decline in Greek honey bee colonies. J. Invertebr. Pathol. 105(3):335-340.

Badgujar, P.C., S.K. Jain, A. Singh, J.S. Punia, R.P. Gupta, G.A. Chandratre. 2013. Immunotoxic effects of imidacloprid following 28 days of oral exposure in BALB/c mice. Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology 35: 408–418. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.etap.2013.01.012

Bal, R., G. Türk, M. Tuzcu, O. Yilmaz, T. Kuloglu, R. Gundogdu, S. Gür, A. Agca M. Ulas Z. Çambay, and Z. Tuzcu. 2012a. Assessment of Imidacloprid Toxicity on Reproductive Organ System of Adult Male Rats. Journal of Environmental Science and Health, Part B 47(5): 434–44. https://doi.org/10.10 80/03601234.2012.663311.

Bal, R., M. Naziroğ lu, G. Türk, Ö. Yilmaz, T. Kuloğlu, E. Etem, G. Baydas. 2012b. Insecticide imidacloprid induces morphological and DNA damage through oxidative toxicity on the reproductive organs of developing male rats. Cell Biochemistry and Function 30: 492–499. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbf.2826.

Bal, R., G. Türk, Ö. Yılmaz, E. Etem, T. Kuloğlu, G.Baydaş, and M. Naziro lu. 2012c. Effects of clothianidin exposure on sperm quality, testicular apoptosis and fatty acid composition in developing male rats. Cell Biology and Toxicology 28: 187–200. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10565-012-9215-0.

Baril A., M. Whiteside, and C. Boutin. 2005. Analysis of a database of pesticide residues on plants for wildlife risk assessment. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 24(2): 360–371.

Bayer Corp. undated. Premise 200SC. Treated zone redefines termite control.

Bhardwaj, S., M.K. Shipra, M.K. Srivastava, U. Kapoor, and L.P. Srivastava. 2010. A 90 Days Oral Toxicity of Imidacloprid in Female Rats: Morphological, Biochemical and Histopathological Evaluations. Food and Chemical Toxicology 48(5): 1185–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. fct.2010.02.009.

Botías, C., A. David, J. Horwood, A. Abdul-Sada, E. Nicholls, E. Hill, and D. Goulson. 2015. Neonicotinoid residues in wildflowers, a potential route of chronic exposure for bees. Environ. Sci. Technol. https://DOI: 10.1021/acs.est.5b03459.

Botías C., A. David E. M. Hill, and D. Goulson. 2017. Quantifying exposure of wild bumblebees to mixtures of agrochemicals in agricultural and urban landscapes. Environ. Pollut. 222:73-82.

Boyles J.G., P.M. Cryan, G.F. McCracken, and T.H. Kunz. 2011. Economic Importance of Bats in Agriculture. Science 332: 41. DOI: 10.1126/science.1201366

Bradford, B. J., A. S. Huseth, and R. L. Groves. 2018. Widespread detections of neonicotinoid contaminants in central Wisconsin groundwater. PlosOne. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0201753

Bullen, R.D. 2017. Towards accurate calculation of field metabolic rates for bats. Oral presentation.13 July 2017. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/318653598_Towards_Accurate_Calculation_of_Field_Metabolic_Rates_for_Bats_-_IMC12.

Calatayud-Vernich, P., F. Calatayud, E. Simó, M.M. Suarez-Varela, and Y. Picó. 2016. Influence of pesticide use in fruit orchards during blooming on honeybee mortality in 4 experimental apiaries. Science of the Total Environment 541, 33–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.08.131.

California Department of Pesticide Regulation (CaDPR) 2006. Imidacloprid. Risk characterization document. Dietary and drinking water exposure. February 9, 2006. 168 pp. +add.

California Department of Pesticide Regulation (CaDPR) 2008. Summary of toxicology data. Thiamethoxam. Original date 10/22/99; Revised 8/23/00, 1/11/06, and Sept. 4, 2008. 27 pp.

Caron-Beaudoin, E., and J. Thomas Sanderson. 2016. Effects of Neonicotinoids on Promoter-Specific Expression and Activity of Aromatase: Implications for the Development of Hormone-Dependent Breast Cancer. Cancer Cell & Microenvironment 3 (2). http://www.smartscitech.com/ index.php/CCM/article/view/1216.

Caron-Beaudoin, E., R. Viau, A. A. Hudon-Thibeault, C. Vaillancourt, and J.T. Sanderson. 2017. The use of a unique co-culture model of fetoplacental steroidogenesis as a screening tool for endocrine disruptors: The effects of neonicotinoids on aromatase activity and hormone production. Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology 332: 15–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2017.07.018

Cimino, A.M., A.L. Boyles, K.A. Thayer, M.J. Perry. 2016. Effects of Neonicotinoid Pesticide Exposure on Human Health: A Systematic Review. Environmental Health Perspectives 125: 155-162. https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP515.

Clare, E.L., E.E. Fraser, H.E. Braid, M.B. Fenton, P.D. Hebert. 2009. Species on the menu of a generalist predator, the eastern red bat (Lasiurus borealis): using a molecular approach to detect arthropod prey. Mol. Ecol. 18: 2532–2542.

Clare, E.L., W.O.C. Symondson, H. Broders, F. Fabianek, E.E. Fraser, A. MacKenzie, A. Boughen, R. Hamilton, C.K.R. Willis, F. Martinez-Nuñez, A.K. Menzies, K.J.O. Norquay, M. Brigham, J. Poissant, J. Rintoul, R.M.R. Barclay, and J.P. Reimer. 2014. The diet of Myotis lucifugus across Canada: assessing foraging quality and diet variability. Molecular Ecology 23(15): 3618-3632.

Clark, D.R. Jr. and R.F. Shore. 2001. Chiroptera in R.F. Shore and B.A. Rattner. Ecotoxicology of wild mammals. John Wiley and Sons. Chapter 5. pp. 159-214.

Codling G, A.I. Naggar Y, J. P. Giesy and A. J. Robertson. 2016. Concentrations of neonicotinoid insecticides in honey, pollen and honey bees (Apis mellifera L.) in central Saskatchewan, Canada. Chemosphere 144:2321-2328.

Conrad, K.F., M. S. Warren, R. Fox, M. S. Parsons, and I.P. Woiwod. 2006. Rapid declines of common, widespread British moths provide evidence of an insect biodiversity crisis. Biological Conservation 132: 279–291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2006.04.020

Cox, C. 2001. Insecticide factsheet: imidacloprid. J. Pestic. Reform 21:15–21.

Dagenais M.M.E.D.D. 2016. The habitat association of bats in the South Okanagan Valley, British Columbia, Canada: Radar-acoustic surveys to assess the use of vineyards by insectivorous bats (Vespertilionidae). Unpublished MSc. Thesis, Simon Fraser University. 120pp.

Dirzo, R., H. S. Young, M. Galetti, G. Ceballos, N.J.B. and B. Collen. 2014. Defaunation in the Anthropocene. Science 345 (6195: 401-406). DOI: 10.1126/science.1251817.

Di Prisco, G., V. Cavaliere, D. Annoscia, P. Varricchio, E. Caprio, F. Nazzi, G. Gargiulo, and F. Pennacchio. 2013. Neonicotinoid clothianidin adversely affects insect immunity and promotes replication of a viral pathogen in honey bees. PNAS 110: 18466–18471. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1314923110

Di Prisco, G., M. Iannaccone, F. Ianniello, R. Ferrara, E. Caprio, F. Pennacchio, and R. Capparelli. 2017. The Neonicotinoid Insecticide Clothianidin Adversely Affects Immune Signaling in a Human Cell Line. Scientific Reports 7(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-13171-z.

DiSalvo, I., D. Russo, and M. Sarà. 2009. Habitat preferences of bats in a rural area of Sicily determined by acoustic surveys. Hystrix, The Italian Journal Of Mammalogy 20:137-146.

Douglas M.R. and J.F. Tooker. 2015. Large-scale deployment of seed treatments has driven rapid increase in use of neonicotinoid insecticides and pre-emptive pest management in U.S. field crops. Environ. Sci. Technol. 49 (8): 5088–5097. https://DOI: 10.1021/es506141g.

ECOFRAM (Ecological Committee on FIFRA Risk Assessment Methods) 1999. Terrestrial Draft Report. May 10 1999.

Eidels R.R., D.W. Sparks, J.O. Whitaker Jr., and C.A. Sprague. 2016. Sub-lethal Effects of Chlorpyrifos on Big Brown Bats (Eptesicus fuscus). Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 71:322–335. https://DOI 10.1007/s00244-016-0307-3.

Eskew E.A. and B.D. Todd. 2013. Parallels in Amphibian and Bat Declines from Pathogenic Fungi. Emerging Infectious Diseases 19(3): 379-385. https://DOI: 10.3201/eid1903.120707.

Cimino. 2015. Ecosystem services, agriculture and neonicotinoids. EASAC policy report 26, April 2015. ISBN: 978-3-8047-3437-1. www.easac.eu.

European Commission (EC). 2002. Guidance Document on Risk Assessment for Birds and Mammals Under Council Directive 91/414/EEC. SANCO/4145/2000. 25 September 2002. 44pp. + app.

European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) 2008. Scientific Report 148, 1-120, Conclusion on the peer review of imidacloprid. Finalised 29 May 2008. 120 pp.

European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) 2009a. Risk Assessment for Birds and Mammals. EFSA Journal 2009; 7(12):1438. 139pp.

European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) 2009b. European Food Safety Authority; Modification of the existing MRLs for thiamethoxam in carrots on request from the European Commission. EFSA Journal 2009; 7(9): ON-1307. 24 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2009.ON-1307.

European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) 2013. PPR Panel (EFSA Panel on Plant Protection Products and their Residues) 2013. Scientific Opinion on the developmental neurotoxicity potential of acetamiprid and imidacloprid. EFSA Journal 2013; 11(12): 3471, 47 pp. doi:10.2903/j. efsa.2013.3471

European Union (EU) 2004a. Review report for the active substance acetamiprid. Finalised in the Standing Committee on the Food Chain and Animal Health at its meeting on 29 June 2004 in view of the inclusion of acetamiprid in Annex I of Directive 91/414/EEC. SANCO/1392/2001 – Final. 34 pp.

European Union (EU) 2004b. Review report for the active substance thiacloprid. Finalised in the Standing Committee on the Food Chain and Animal Health at its meeting on 29 June 2004 in view of the inclusion of thiacloprid in Annex I of Directive 91/414/EEC. SANCO/4347/2000 – Final. 63 pp.

European Union (EU) 2005. Review report for the active substance clothianidin. Finalised in the Standing Committee on the Food Chain and Animal Health at its meeting on 27 January 2006 in view of the inclusion of clothianidin in Annex I of Directive 91/414/EEC. SANCO/10533/05 – Final. 26 pp.

European Union (EU) 2006. Review report for the active substance thiamethoxam. Finalised in the Standing Committee on the Food Chain and Animal Health at its meeting on 14 July 2006 in view of the inclusion of thiamethoxam in Annex I of Directive 91/414/EEC. SANCO/10390/2002 - rev. final. 47pp.

Federico, P., T.G. Hallam, G.F. McCracken, S. T. Purucker W. E. Grant A.N. Correa-Sandoval, J.K. Westbrook, R.A. Medellín, C.J. Cleveland, C.G. Sansone J.D. López Jr 2008. Brazilian free-tailed bats as insect pest regulators in transgenic and conventional cotton crops. Ecol. Appl. 18: 826–837.

Fletcher JS, Nellessen JE, Pfleeger TG. 1994. Literature review and evaluation of the EPA nomogram, an instrument for estimating pesticide residues on plants. Environ Toxicol Chem 13:1383–1391.

Forister, M.L., B. Cousens, J.G. Harrison, K. Anderson, J.H. Thorne, D. Waetjen, C.C. Nice, M. De Parsia, M.L. Hladik, R. Meese, H. van Vliet, A.M. Shapiro. 2016. Increasing neonicotinoid use and the declining butterfly fauna of lowland California. Biology Letters 12(8): 20160475. https://doi. org/10.1098/rsbl.2016.0475

Frey-Ehrenbold, A., F. Bontadina, R. Arlettaz and M.K. Obrist. 2013. Landscape connectivity, habitat structure and activityof bat guilds in farmland-dominated matrices. Journal of Applied Ecology 50: 252–261.

Froidevaux, J.S.P., B. Louboutin, G. Jones. 2017. Does organic farming enhance biodiversity in Mediterranean vineyards? A case study with bats and arachnids. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 249: 112–122.

Fuentes-Montemayor E., D. Goulson, K.J. Park. 2011. Pipistrelle bats and their prey do not benefit from four widely applied agri-environment management prescriptions. Biological Conservation 144: 2233–2246.

Geiger F., J. Bengtsson, F. Berendse, W.W. Weisser, M. Emmersond, M.B. Morales, P. Ceryngier, J. Liira, T. Tscharntke, C. Winqvist, S. Eggers, *et al.* 2010. Persistent negative effects of pesticides on biodiversity and biological control potential on European farmland. Basic and Applied Ecology 11: 97–105.

Gibbons, D., C. Morrissey and P. Mineau. 2015. A review of the direct and indirect effects of neonicotinoids and fipronil on vertebrate wildlife. Worldwide Integrated Assessment of the impact of Systemic Pesticides on Biodiversity and Ecosystems. Environmental Science and Pollution Research. DOI 10.1007/s11356-014-3180-5.

Gilburn A.S., N. Bunnefeld, J. McVeanWilson, M.S. Botham, T.M. Brereton, R. Fox and D. Goulson. 2015. Are neonicotinoid insecticides driving declines of widespread butterflies? PeerJ 3:e1402; DOI 10.7717/peerj.1402

Girolami, V., M. Marzaro, L. Vivan, L. Mazzon, C. Giorio, D. Marton, and A. Tapparo. 2013. Aerial powdering of bees inside mobile cages and the extent of neonicotinoid cloud surrounding corn drillers. Journal of Applied Entomology 137, 35–44. doi:10.1111/j.1439-0418.2012.01718.x

Goulson, D., 2013. An overview of the environmental risk posed by neonicotinoid insecticides. J Appl Ecol 50, 977e987.

Hafez, E. M., S. Y. Issa, M. K. Al-Mazroua, K. T. Ibrahim, and S. M. A. Rahman. 2016. The Neonicotinoid Insecticide Imidacloprid: A Male Reproductive System Toxicity Inducer-Human and Experimental Study. Toxicol Open Access 2, no. 109:2.

Hallmann, C.A., R.P.B. Foppen, C.A.M. van Turnhout, H. de Kroon and E. Jongejans. 2014. Declines in insectivorous birds are associated with high neonicotinoid concentrations. Nature. doi:10.1038/ nature13531

Hallmann C.A., M. Sorg E. Jongejans H. Siepel N. Hofland, H. Schwan *et al.* 2017. More than 75 percent decline over 27 years in total flying insect biomass in protected areas. PLoS ONE 12(10): e0185809. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0185809

Halm, M-P., A. Rortais, G. Arnold, N. Taséi, and S. Rault. 2006. New Risk Assessment Approach for Systemic Insecticides: The Case of Honey Bees and Imidacloprid (Gaucho). Environ. Sci. Technol. 2006, 40, 2448-2454.

Han, W., Y. Tian, X. Shen. 2018. Human exposure to neonicotinoid insecticides and the evaluation of their potential toxicity: An overview. Chemosphere 192, 59–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2017.10.149

Hirano, T., S. Yanai, T. Omotehara, R. Hashimoto, Y. Umemura, N. Kubota, K. Minami, D. Nagahara, E. Matsuo, and Y. Aihara. 2015. The Combined Effect of Clothianidin and Environmental Stress on the Behavioral and Reproductive Function in Male Mice. Journal of Veterinary Medical Science 77, no. 10: 1207–1215.

Hirano, T., S. Yanai, T. Takada, N. Yoneda, T. Omotehara, N. Kubota, K. Minami, *et al.* 2018. NOAEL-Dose of a Neonicotinoid Pesticide, Clothianidin, Acutely Induce Anxiety-Related Behavior with Human-Audible Vocalizations in Male Mice in a Novel Environment. Toxicology Letters 282: 57–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2017.10.010.

Hladik M.L., M. Vandever, K. L. Smalling. 2016. Exposure of native bees foraging in an agricultural landscape to current-use pesticides. Sci. Total Environ. 542, Part A: 469-477.

Hladik, M., Corsi, S., Kolpin, D.W., Cavallin, J. E. 2018. Year-round presence of neonicotinoid insecticides in tributaries to the Great Lakes, USA. Environmental Pollution 235: 1022- 1029. DOI: 10.1016/j.envpol.2018.01.013

Hoerger F.D., and E. E. Kenaga. 1972. Pesticide residues on plants: Correlation of representative data as a basis for estimation of their magnitude in the environment. In Coulston F, F. Korte, eds: Environmental Quality, Vol 1. Academic, New York, NY, USA: 9–28.

Hsiao, C.J. C.L. Lin, T. Y. Lin, S. E. Wang, and C. H. Wu. 2016. Imidacloprid Toxicity Impairs Spatial Memory of Echolocation Bats through Neural Apoptosis in Hippocampal CA1 and Medial Entorhinal Cortex Areas: NeuroReport 27, no. 6: 462–68. https://doi.org/10.1097/WNR.000000000000562

Ibrahim, K.A., M. A. El-Desouky, H. M. Abou-Yousef, K. H. Gabrowny, and A. S. El-Sayed. 2015. Imidacloprid and/or Esfenvalerate Induce Apoptosis and Disrupt Thyroid Hormones in Neonatal Rats. Global Journal of Biotechnology & Biochemistry 10: 106–112.

Jones, G., D.S. Jacobs, T.H. Kunz, M.R. Willig, P.A. Racey. 2009. Carpe noctem: the importance of bats as bioindicators. Endang Species Res. Vol. 8: 93–115, doi: 10.3354/esr00182

Kapoor, U. M.K. Srivastava, and L.P. Srivastava. 2011. Toxicological Impact of Technical Imidacloprid on Ovarian Morphology, Hormones and Antioxidant Enzymes in Female Rats. Food and Chemical Toxicology 49, no. 12: 3086–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2011.09.009. Kara, M.O. Yumrutas, C. F. Demir, H. H., Ozdemir, I. Bozgeyik, S. Coskun, E. Eraslan, and R. Bal. 2015. Insecticide Imidacloprid Influences Cognitive Functions and Alters Learning Performance and Related Gene Expression in a Rat Model. International Journal of Experimental Pathology 96, no. 5 (October 2015): 332–37. https://doi.org/10.1111/iep.12139.

Kenaga EE. 1973. Factors to be considered in the evaluation of the toxicity of pesticides to birds in their environment. Environmental Quality and Safety 2:166–181.

Khalil, S. R. A. Awad, H. H. Mohammed, and M. A. Nassan. 2017. Imidacloprid Insecticide Exposure Induces Stress and Disrupts Glucose Homeostasis in Male Rats. Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology 55 (October 2017): 165–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.etap.2017.08.017.

Kiljanek, T.A. Niewiadowska, S. Semeniuk, M. Gaweł, M. Borzecka, and A. Posyniak. 2016. Multiresidue method for the determination of pesticides and pesticide metabolites in honeybees by liquid and gas chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry—Honeybee poisoning incidents. Journal of Chromatography A, 1435 (2016): 100–114.

Kimura-Kuroda, J., Y. Komuta, Y. Kuroda, M. Hayashi, H. Kawano. 2012. Nicotine-Like Effects of the Neonicotinoid Insecticides Acetamiprid and Imidacloprid on Cerebellar Neurons from Neonatal Rats. PLoS ONE 7, e32432. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0032432

Kimura-Kuroda, J., Y. Nishito, H. Yanagisawa, Y. Kuroda, Y. Komuta, H. Kawano, and M. Hayashi. 2016. Neonicotinoid Insecticides Alter the Gene Expression Profile of Neuron-Enriched Cultures from Neonatal Rat Cerebellum. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 13, 987. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph13100987

Kniowski A.B., and S. D. Gehrt. 2014. Home range and habitat selection of the Indiana bat in an agricultural landscape. J. Wildl. Manage 78:503–512.

Kreitinger, J. M., C. A. Beamer, and D. M. Shepherd. 2016. Environmental Immunology: Lessons Learned from Exposure to a Select Panel of Immunotoxicants. The Journal of Immunology 196, no. 8: 3217–25. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1502149.

Krupke, C.H., G. J. Hunt, B.D. Eitzer, G. Andino, andK. Given. 2012. Multiple routes of pesticide exposure for honey bees living near agricultural fields. PLoS ONE 7, e29268. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0029268

Kugathas, S., K. Audouze, S. Ermler, F. Orton, E. Rosivatz, M. Scholze, and A. Kortenkamp. 2015. Effects of Common Pesticides on Prostaglandin D2 (PGD2) Inhibition in SC5 Mouse Sertoli Cells, Evidence of Binding at the COX-2 Active Site, and Implications for Endocrine Disruption. Environmental Health Perspectives 124. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1409544

Kunz, T.H., E. Braun de Torrez, D. Bauer, T. Lobova, and T.H. Fleming. 2011. Ecosystem services provided by bats. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 1223, 1–38.

Loeb, S.C., T.J. Rodhouse, L.E. Ellison, C.L. Lausen, J.D. Reichard, K.M. Irvine, T.E. Ingersoll, J.T.H. Coleman, W.E. Thogmartin, J.R. Sauer, C.M. Francis, M.L. Bayless, T.R. Stanley, and D.H. Johnson. 2015. A Plan for the North American Bat Monitoring Program (NABat) Forest Service Research & Development Southern Research Station General Technical Report SRS-208. 100pp.

Lonare, M., M. Kumar, S. Raut, P. Badgujar, S. Doltade, and A. Telang. 2014. Evaluation of imidacloprid-induced neurotoxicity in male rats: A protective effect of curcumin. Neurochemistry International 78: 122–129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuint.2014.09.004

Long, E. Y. and C. H. Krupke. 2016. Non-cultivated plants present a season-long route of pesticide exposure for honey bees. Nat. Commun. 7:11629 doi: 10.1038/ncomms11629.

Lopez-Antia, A., M. E. Ortiz-Santaliestra, F. Mougeot, and R. Mateo. 2015. Imidacloprid-treated seed ingestion has lethal effect on adult partridges and reduces both breeding investment and offspring immunity. Environmental Research 136: 97–107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envres.2014.10.023

Main, A.R., J. V. Headley, K. M. Peru, N. L. Michel, A. J. Cessna, C. A. Morrissey. 2014. Widespread use and frequent detection of neonicotinoid insecticides in wetlands of Canada's Prairie Pothole Region. PLoS One 9, e92821.

Maine, J. J. and J. G. Boyles. 2015. Bats initiate vital agroecological interactions in corn. PNAS. www.pnas.org/cgi/doi/10.1073/pnas.1505413112

Marfo, J.T., K. Fujioka, Y. Ikenaka, S. M. M. Nakayama, H. Mizukawa, Y. Aoyama, M. Ishizuka, and K. Taira. 2015. Relationship between Urinary N-Desmethyl-Acetamiprid and Typical Symptoms including Neurological Findings: A Prevalence Case-Control Study. PLOS ONE 10, e0142172. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0142172

Mason, R., H. Tennekes, F. Sánchez-Bayo, and P.U. Jepsen. 2013. Immune suppression by neonicotinoid insecticides at the root of global wildlife declines. Journal of Environmental Immunology and Toxicology 1(1): 3-12.

McCracken, G.F. J.K. Westbrook, V.A. Brown, M. Eldridge, P. Federico, T.H. Kunz. 2012. Bats track and exploit changes in insect pest populations. Plos One 7 (8):Je43839.

Meteyer CU, D. Barber and J. N. Mandl.2012. Pathology in euthermic bats with white nose syndrome suggests a natural manifestation of immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome. Virulence 3(7):1–6.

Mikolić, A., and I. B. Karačonji. 2018. Imidacloprid as reproductive toxicant and endocrine disruptor: investigations in laboratory animals. Archives of Industrial Hygiene and Toxicology 69: 103–108. https://doi.org/10.2478/aiht-2018-69-3144 Miles, J.C., J. Hua, M. S. Sepulveda, C.H. Krupke, and J. T. Hoverman JT 2017 Effects of clothianidin on aquatic communities: Evaluating the impacts of lethal and sublethal exposure to neonicotinoids. PLoS ONE 12(3): e0174171. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0174171

Miles, J.C., J. Hua, M. S. Sepulveda, C. H. Krupke, and J. T. Hoverman. 2018. Correction: Effects of clothianidin on aquatic communities: Evaluating the impacts of lethal and sublethal exposure to neonicotinoids. PLoS ONE 13, e0194634. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0194634

Mineau, P. (Ed.) 1991. Cholineaterase-inhibiting insecticides. Their impact on wildlife and the environment. Elsevier. 348 pp.

Mineau, P. and C. Palmer. 2013. The impact of the nation's most widely used insecticides on birds. Unpublished report prepared for the American Bird Conservancy, March 2013. 96 pp.

Mohany, M., M. El-Feki, I. Refaat, O. Garraud, and G/ Badr. 2012. Thymoquinone ameliorates the immunological and histological changes induced by exposure to imidacloprid insecticide. The Journal of Toxicological Sciences 37, 1–11.

Mondal, S., R. C. Ghosh, M. S. Mate, and D. B. Karmakar. 2009. Effects of acetamiprid on immune system in female Wistar rats, in: Proceedings of the Zoological Society. Springer, pp. 109–117.

Mondal, S., R. C. Ghosh, S. K. Mukhopadhyaya. 2011. Studies on the electrolytes and microelements in Wistar rat following multiple exposures to acetamiprid. Toxicology and Industrial Health 28, 422–427. https://doi.org/10.1177/0748233711413800

Morrissey, C.A., P. Mineau, J.H. Devries, F. Sanchez-Bayo, M. Liess, M.C. Cavallaro and K. Liber. 2015. Neonicotinoid contamination of global surface waters and associated risk to aquatic invertebrates: A review. Environment International 74: 291-303.

Nakano, S. and M. Murakami. 2001. Reciprocal subsidies: Dynamic interdependence between terrestrial and aquatic food webs. PNAS 98(1): 166–170.

Norberg U. M. and J. M. V. Rayner. 1987. Ecological Morphology and Flight in Bats (Mammalia; Chiroptera): Wing Adaptations, Flight Performance, Foraging Strategy and Echolocation. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, BiologicalSciences, Vol. 316, No. 1179, pp. 335-427.

OMAFRA. 2017. Field crop budgets. Publication 60. 20 pp.

Özdemir, H.H., M. Kara, O. Yumrutas, F. Uckardes, E. Eraslan, C. F. Demir, C.F., and R. Bal. 2014. Determination of the effects on learning and memory performance and related gene expressions of clothianidin in rat models. Cognitive Neurodynamics 8, 411–416. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11571-014-9293-1 Pamminger, T., C. Botías, D. Goulson, and W. O. H. Hughes. 2018. A mechanistic framework to explain the immunosuppressive effects of neurotoxic pesticides on bees. Functional Ecology 32: 1921–1930. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.13119

Pettis, J. S., D. vanEngelsdorp, J. Johnson, and G. Dively. 2012. Pesticide exposure in honey bees results in increased levels of the gut pathogen Nosema. Naturwissenschaften 99: 153–158.

Pest Management Regulatory Agency (PMRA). 2001a. Thiamethoxam, Helix, Helix XTra. Regulatory Note. REG2001-03. 9 February 2001. 51 pp.

Pest Management Regulatory Agency (PMRA). 2001b. Imidacloprid. Regulatory Note REG2001-11. 7 September 2001. 9 pp.

Pest Management Regulatory Agency (PMRA). 2002. Acetamiprid. Assail Brand 70 WP Insecticide. Chipco Brand Tristar 70 WSP Insecticide. Pristine Brand RTU Insecticide. Regulatory Note REG2002-05. 27 November 2002. 114pp.

Pest Management Regulatory Agency (PMRA). 2004. Clothianidin. Poncho 600 Seed Treatment Insecticide. Regulatory Note REG2004-06. 2 April 2004. 84pp.

Pest Management Regulatory Agency (PMRA). 2007a. Thiamethoxam. Evaluation report. ERC2007-01. 22 June 2007. 90 pp.

Pest Management Regulatory Agency (PMRA). 2007b. Thiacloprid. Proposed registration decision. PRD2007-02. 10 January 2007. 111 pp.

Pest Management Regulatory Agency (PMRA). 2010. Acetamiprid. Proposed Registration Decision. PRD2010-02. 8 February 2010. 64 pp.

Pest Management Regulatory Agency (PMRA). 2011. Clutch 50 WDG, Arena 50 WDG and Clothianidin Insecticides. Evaluation report ERC 2011-01. 19 May 2011. 66pp.

Pest Management Regulatory Agency (PMRA) 2016a. Clothianidin. Proposed Registration Decision. PRD2016-04. 12 February 2016. 22 pp.

Pest Management Regulatory Agency (PMRA). 2016b. Imidacloprid. Proposed Re-evaluation Decision. PRVD2016-20. 294pp.

Pest Management Regulatory Agency (PMRA). 2018. Special Review of Thiamethoxam Risk to Aquatic Invertebrates: Proposed Decision for Consultation. PSRD2018-02. 211 pp.

Pfleeger T.G., A. Fong A, R. Hayes, H. Ratsch and C. Wickliff. 1996. Field evaluation of the EPA (Kenaga) nomogram, a method for estimating wildlife exposure to pesticide residues on plants. Environ Toxicol Chem 15:535–543. Pisa, L. W., V. Amaral-Rogers, L. P. Belzunces, J. M. Bonmatin, C. A. Downs, D. Goulson, D. P. Kreutzweiser, C. Krupke, M. Liess, M. McField and C. A. Morrissey. 2015. Effects of neonicotinoids and fipronil on non-target invertebrates. Environ Sci Pollut Res 22(1): 68–102.

Pisa L, D. Goulson, E. C. Yang, D. Gibbons, F. Sánchez-Bayo, E. Mitchell, A. Aebi, J. van der Sluijs, C. J. K. MacQuarrie, C. Giorio, E. Y. Long, M. McField, M. Bijleveld van Lexmond, and J. M. Bonmatin.
2017. An update of the Worldwide Integrated Assessment (WIA) on systemic insecticides. Part 2: Impacts on organisms and ecosystems. Environ Sci Pollut Res. Int. doi: 10.1007/s11356-017-0341-3. [Epub]

Put, J.E., G.W. Mitchell, and L. Fahrig. 2018. Higher bat and prey abundance at organic than conventional soybean fields. Biological Conservation 226: 177-185.

Quarles, W. 2013. Bats, Pesticides and White Nose Syndrome. The IPM Practitioner 23(9/10):1-6.

Ratcliffe J.M. and J.W. Dawson. 2003. Behavioural flexibility: the little brown bat, Myotis lucifugus, and the northern long-eared bat, M. septentrionalis, both glean and hawk prey. Animal Behaviour, 66, 847–856. doi:10.1006/anbe.2003.2297

Samson-Robert, O., G. Labrie, M. Chagnon, and V. Fournier. 2014. Neonicotinoid contaminated puddles of water represent a risk of intoxication for honey bees. PLoS ONE 9(12): e108443. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0108443

Sánchez-Bayo, F., and K. Goka. 2006. Ecological effects of the insecticide imidacloprid and a pollutant from antidandruff shampoo in experimental rice fields. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 25, 1677–1687.

Sanchez-Bayo, F. 2009. From simple toxicological models to prediction of toxic effects in time. Ecotoxicology 18:343–354.

Sánchez-Bayo F, D. Goulson, F. Pennacchio, F. Nazzi, K. Goka, and N. Desneux. 2016a. Are bee diseases linked to pesticides?—a brief review. Environ Int. 89 – 90: 7–11.

Sánchez-Bayo, F., K. Goka, and D. Hayasaka. 2016b. Contamination of the Aquatic Environment with Neonicotinoids and its Implication for Ecosystems. Frontiers in Environmental Science 4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2016.00071

Sánchez-Bayo F, and H. A. Tennekes. 2017. Assessment of ecological risks of agrochemicals requires a new framework. Environmental Risk Assessment and Remediation 1(3): 20-28.

Sano, K., T. Isobe, J. Yang, T.T. Win-Shwe, M. Yoshikane, S. F. Nakayama, T. Kawashima, G. Suzuki, S. Hashimoto, K. Nohara, C. Tohyama, and F. Maekawa. 2016. In utero and Lactational Exposure to Acetamiprid Induces Abnormalities in Socio-Sexual and Anxiety-Related Behaviors of Male Mice. Front. Neurosci. 10.

Saskatchewan Agriculture. 2016. Crop Planning Guide 2016. 16 pp.

Schaafsma A, V. Limay-Rios, T. Baute ,J. Smith, and Y. Xue. 2015. Neonicotinoid insecticide residues in surface water and soil associated with commercial maize (corn) fields in Southwestern Ontario. PLoS ONE 10(2): e0118139. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0118139

Schott, M., G. Bischoff, G. Eichner, A. Vilcinskas, R. Büchler, M. D. Meixner, A. Brandt. 2017. Temporal dynamics of whole body residues of the neonicotinoid insecticide imidacloprid in live or dead honeybees. Scientific Reports 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-06259-z

Secord A.L., A. Major, K. Patnode, D. W. Sparks. 2015a. NY, MA, VT, NH, CT, PA, IN – Evaluation of the Potential Role of Environmental Contaminants in Significant Bat Mortality in Conjunction with White-Nose Syndrome (WNS) in the Northeastern United States. Project ID: FFS#: 5F44 and DEC ID: 200950001.1 (Final Report). 36 pp.

Secord, A.L., K.A. Patnode, C. Carter, E. Redman, D.J. Gefell, A.R. Majorand D.W. Sparks. 2015b. Contaminants of Emerging Concern in Bats from the Northeastern United States. Arch. Environ Contam Toxicol. DOI 10.1007/s00244-015-0196-x

Shakthi Devan, R.K., P. C. Prabu, S. Panchapakesan. 2014. Immunotoxicity assessment of subchronic oral administration of acetamiprid in Wistar rats. Drug and Chemical Toxicology 1–9. https://doi.org/10.3109/01480545.2014.966382

Sheets, L.P., A. A. Li, D. J. Minnema, R. H. Collier, M. R. Creek, and R. C. Peffer. 2016. A critical review of neonicotinoid insecticides for developmental neurotoxicity. Critical Reviews in Toxicology 46: 153–190. https://doi.org/10.3109/10408444.2015.1090948

Sirami, C., D.S. Jacobs, and G.S. Cumming. 2013. Artificial wetlands and surrounding habitats provide important foraging habitat for bats in agricultural landscapes in the Western Cape, South Africa. Biological Conservation 164:30-38.

Smit. C.E. 2009. Energy, moisture content and assimilation efficiency of bird and mammal food. In: European Food Safety Authority; Guidance Document on Risk Assessment for Birds & Mammals on request from EFSA; Appendix L. EFSA Journal 2009; 7(12):1438. [18 pp.]. doi:10.2903/j. efsa.2009.1438. Available online: www.efsa.europa.eu

Speakman, J.R. and A. Rowland. 1999. Preparing for inactivity: how insectivorous bats deposit a fat store for hibernation. Proceedings of the Nutrition Society 58: 123-131.

Stahlschmidt P. and C.A. Brühl. 2012. Bats at risk? Bat activity and insecticide residue analysis of food items in an apple orchard. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 31(7): 1556–1563.

Stahlschmidt, P., M. Hahn and C. A. Brühl. 2017. Nocturnal Risks-High Bat Activity in the Agricultural Landscape Indicates Potential Pesticide Exposure. Front. Environ. Sci. 5:62. doi:10.3389/ fenvs.2017.00062

Story, P.G., P. Mineau, and W.C. Mullié. 2013. Insecticide residues in Australian plague locusts (Chortoicetes terminifera walker) after ultra-low volume aerial application of the organophosphorus insecticide fenitrothion. Env. Tox. Chem. 32(12): 2792-2799.

Struger, J., J. Grabuski, S. Cagampan, E. Sverko, D. McGoldrick, and C. H. Marvin, . 2017. Factors influencing the occurrence and distribution of neonicotinoid insecticides in surface waters of southern Ontario, Canada. Chemosphere, 169, 516-523.

Sun, Q., X. Xiao, Y. Kim, D. Kim, K. S. Yoon, J. M. Clark, and Y. Park. 2016. Imidacloprid Promotes High Fat Diet-Induced Adiposity and Insulin Resistance in Male C57BL/6J Mice. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 64: 9293–9306. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.6b04322

Tanaka, T. 2012. Effects of maternal clothianidin exposure on behavioral development in F1 generation mice. Toxicology and Industrial Health 28: 697–707. https://doi. org/10.1177/0748233711422726

Tanaka, T. 2012. Reproductive and neurobehavioral effects of clothianidin administered to mice in the diet. Birth Defects Res B 95:151–159. doi:10.1002/bdrb.20349

Tapparo, A., D. Marton, C. Giorio, A. Zanella, L. Soldà, M. Marzaro, L. Vivan, andV. Girolami. 2012. Assessment of the Environmental Exposure of Honeybees to Particulate Matter Containing Neonicotinoid Insecticides Coming from Corn Coated Seeds. Environmental Science & Technology 46, 2592–2599. doi:10.1021/es2035152

Tappert, L., T. Pokorny, J. Hofferberth, and J. Ruther. 2017. Sublethal doses of imidacloprid disrupt sexual communication and host finding in a parasitoid wasp. Scientific Reports 7, 42756. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep42756

Tennekes, H.A. 2010a. The significance of the Druckrey–Küpfmüller equation for risk assessment —The toxicity of neonicotinoid insecticides to arthropods is reinforced by exposure time. Toxicology 276:1-4.

Tennekes, H.A. 2010b. The systemic insecticides: a disaster in the making. Weevers Walburg Communicatie, Zutphen, Netherlands, 72 pp.

Toor, H.K., G. K. Sangha, K. S. Khera. 2013. Imidacloprid induced histological and biochemical alterations in liver of female albino rats. Pesticide Biochemistry and Physiology 105: 1–4. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.pestbp.2012.10.001

Tsvetkov,N., O. Samson-Robert, K. Sood, H. S. Patel, D. A. Malena, P. H. Gajiwala, P. Maciukiewicz, V. Fournier, and A. Zayed. 2017. Chronic exposure to neonicotinoids reduces honey bee health near corn crops. Science: 356 (6345), 1395-1397DOI: 10.1126/science.aam7470.

US Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 2002. Acetamiprid: Toxicology chapter and toxicology data evaluation records. OPP Official Record. Health Effects Division scientific data reviews. EPA series 361. 504 pp.

US Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 2003. Pesticide Fact Sheet. Name of Chemical: Clothianidin. Reason for Issuance: Conditional Registration. Date Issued: May 30, 2003. 18 pp.

US Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 2008. Ecological Risk Assessment for the Section 3 New Use Registration of Thiamethoxam on Citrus Fruits and Tree Nuts.

US Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 2011. Clothianidin. Acute and chronic aggregate dietary (food and drinking water) exposure and risk assessments to evaluate requested uses on mustard seed and requested uses of thiamethoxam on peanuts, in food-handling establishments, and as a seed treatment for cereal grains. 4 January 2011.

US Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 2012a. T-REX Version 1.5 User's Guide for Calculating Pesticide Residues on Avian and Mammalian Food Items - Appendix B - Initial Pesticide Residues on Arthropods. TIM Version 3.0 beta Technical Description and User Guide - Appendix E. Initial Pesticide Residues on Arthropods. https://www.epa.gov/pesticide-science-and-assessing-pesticide-risks/t-rex-version-15-users-guide-calculating-pesticide-0

US Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 2012b. Benchmark dose technical guidance. Risk Assessment Forum. EPA/100/R-12/001. June 2012.

US Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 2013. Technical Overview of Ecological Risk Assessment. Downloaded 10 July 2013.

US Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 2017. Imidacloprid: Human Health Draft Risk Assessment for Registration Review (22 June 2017). 77pp.

US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2015. Threatened Species Status for the Northern Long-Eared Bat With 4(d) Rule, 80 Fed. Reg. 17974, 18003 (Apr. 2, 2015).

van der Sluijs, J.P., V. Amaral-Rogers, L. P. Belzunces, M. F. I. J. Bijleveld van Lexmond, J-M. Bonmatin, M. Chagnon, C. A. Downs, L. Furlan, D. W. Gibbons, C. Giorio, V. Girolami & D. Goulson & D. P. Kreutzweiser & C. Krupke, M. Liess, E. Long, M. McField, P. Mineau, E. A. D. Mitchell, C. A. Morrissey, D. A. Noome, L. Pisa, J. Settele, N. Simon-Delso, J. D. Stark, A. Tapparo, H. Van Dyck, J. van Praagh, P. R. Whitehorn, and M. Wiemers. 2015. Conclusions of the Worldwide Integrated Assessment on the risks of neonicotinoids and fipronil to biodiversity and ecosystem functioning. Environmental Science and Pollution Research. DOI 10.1007/s11356-014-3229-5. Van Dijk, T. C., M. A. Van Staalduinen, and J. P. Van der Sluijs. 2013. Macro-Invertebrate Decline in Surface Water Polluted with Imidacloprid. PLoS ONE 8, no. 5 (May 1, 2013): e62374. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0062374.

Vidau, C., M. Diogon, J. Aufauvre, R. Fontbonne, B. Viguès, J. L. Brunet, C. Texier, D. G. Biron, N. Blot, H. El Alaoui, L. P. Belzunces, and F. Delbac. 2011. Exposure to Sublethal Doses of Fipronil and Thiacloprid Highly Increases Mortality of Honeybees Previously Infected by Nosema ceranae. PLoS ONE 6, e21550. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0021550

Vijver M.G. and P. J. van den Brink. 2014. Macro-Invertebrate Decline in Surface Water Polluted with Imidacloprid: A Rebuttal and Some New Analyses. PLoS ONE 9(2): e89837. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0089837

Vogel, G. 2017. Where have all the insects gone? Science. Editorial. 10 November 2017. doi:10.1126/science.aal1160

Whiting, S.A., K.E. Strain, L.A. Campbell, B.G. Young, and M.J. Lydy. 2014. A multi-year field study to evaluate the environmental fate and agronomic effects of insecticide mixtures. Science of the Total Environment 497–498: 534–542.

Whiting, S.A. and M.J. Lydy. 2015. A site-specific ecological risk assessment for corn-associated insecticides. Integrated Environmental Assessment and Management 11: 445-458.

Wickramasinghe, L.P., S. Harris, G. Jones, and N. Vaughan. 2003. Bat activity and species richness on organic and conventional farms: impact of agricultural intensification. J. Appl. Ecol. 40: 984–993.

Wickramasinghe, L.P., S. Harris, G. Jones, and N.V. Jennings. 2004. Abundance and species richness of nocturnal insects on organic and conventional farms: effects of agricultural intensification on bat foraging. Conserv. Biol. 18: 1283–1292.

Woodcock, B.A., N. J. Isaac, J. M. Bullock, D. B. Roy, D. G. Garthwaite, A. Crowe, and R. F. Pywell 2016. Impacts of neonicotinoid use on long-term population changes in wild bees in England. Nature Communications. 7:12459. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms12459 PMID: 27529661

Xing, Z.S., L. Chow, H. Rees, F. R. Meng, S. Li, B. Ernst, B., G. Benoy, T. S. Zha, and L. M. Hewitt. 2013. Influences of sampling methodologies on pesticide-residue detection in stream water. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 64, 208–218.
Appendix I

Endpoint classification	Species	Effect	NOAEL (mg/kg/ day)	LOAEL (mg/kg/ day)	Source and notes
Acute (1 dose)	rat	Apathy, ataxia, tremors etc.	50	100	CaDPR (2006) (Note that LD50 values range from 379 to 642 mg/ kg based on sex in 3 different studies); PMRA (2016b)
Acute (1 dose)	mouse	Apathy, labored breathing, tremors etc.	10	71	CaDPR (2006) (LD50=131 mg/kg; EFSA (2008))
Acute (1 dose) Neurotoxicity	rat	Decreased motor activity, neurotox. score	9.3-12*	42	CaDPR (2006); NOAEL of 42 according to EFSA (2008); No NOAEL according to USEPA (2017) or PMRA (2016b)
Acute (Effects seen within hours of first exposure of 90 day study)	dog	Tremors	7.8	22-24	CaDPR (2006); EFSA (2008); USEPA (2017)
Sub-chronic Developmental study (10 days during gestation)	rat	Body weight in dams. Terata in pups with endocrine effect noted (higher proportion of male foetuses)	30	100	CaDPR (2006); PMRA (2016b) and Cox (2001) give NOAEL of 10 mg/kg/day for maternal effects
Sub-chronic (98 days)	rat	BW reduction	14	57	CaDPR (2006); NOAEL of 57 according to EFSA (2008).
Sub-chronic (96 days)	rat	BW reduction, liver toxicity	14	61	CaDPR (2006); PMRA (2016b); NOAEL of 61 according to EFSA (2008)
Sub-chronic (91-98 days?) Developmental neurotoxicity	Rat (Fischer)	BW reduction, reduced grip strength	9.3	63	CaDPR (2006); EFSA (2008); PMRA (2016b) (Account of study duration varies)

Summary of industry mammalian studies with imidacloprid.

Developmental neurotoxicity (91 days)	rat (Wistar)	Body W reduction in pups, decreased motor activity in dams	19	55	Cal EPA (2006) (Because brain morphology changes at LOEL but not investigated in NOAEL, recommend NOAEL of 5.5 based on 10X factor); NOAEL of 30 mg/kg according to EFSA (2008); Pup NOAEL of 20 mg/kg according to USEPA (2017) and PMRA (2016b).
Sub-chronic (107 days)	mouse	labored breathing, decreased motility, staggering gait and trembling	86	427	CaDPR (2006) (re-calculated because of unrealistic food consumption data; disparity with acute toxicity noted)
Sub-chronic (28 days)	dog	Food consumption, thyroid and liver toxicity	7.3	31	CaDPR (2006); EFSA (2008); no NOAEL according to PMRA (2016b)
Sub-chronic (90 days)	dog	Tremors	7.8	22-24	CaDPR (2006); EFSA (2008); PMRA (2016b); USEPA (2017) and PMRA (2016b) use this NOAEL as departure point for most of their assessments
Sub-chronic (13 days)	rabbit	Mortality and weight loss in dams, post implantation losses, decreased BW in foetuses	24	72	CaDPR (2006)
Chronic (2 years)	rat	Thyroid toxicity	5.7	17	CaDPR (2006) (but NS trend seen at lowest dose of 5.7); EFSA (2008); PMRA (2016b)
Chronic (2 generations)	rat	Decrease in pup weight	13	38	CaDPR (2006); according to EFSA (2008), parental and pup NOAEL of 20 mg/ kg
Chronic (2 years)	mouse	Body weight	47	143	CaDPR (2006) (re-calculated because of unrealistic food consumption data; disparity with acute toxicity noted); NOAEL noted as 208 mg/kg by EFSA (2008)

Chronic	dog	Liver toxicity	15	41	CaDPR (2006) (Disparity with shorter
(1 year)					dosing studies noted); NOAEL of 41 mg/
					kg according to EFSA (2008) and PMRA (2016b).

* Effective dose of 12 mg/kg derived from 'benchmark dose analysis' with 5% effect. The 95% confidence bound is 9.3 mg/kg.

Appendix II

Endpoint	Species	Effect	NOAEL (mg/kg/	LOAEL (mg/kg/	Source and notes
classification			day)	day)	
Acute (Neurotoxicity)	rat	Reduced locomotor activity, neurotox panel including drooped palpebral closure, rectal temperature, forelimb grip strength	100	500	EU (2006), PMRA (2001a), CaDPR (2008) (Note: The LD50 is reported as 1563 mg/ kg)
Developmental neurotoxicity (brain effects noted as possible following a single exposure)	rat	Maternal BW and food consumption	34	298	PMRA (2007a) (BW, food consumption in dams, BW, delayed sexual maturation and brain size in pups; concludes that the behavioural assessment (water maze) was not refined enough to be useful.) USEPA (2011). CaDPR (2008) considers 298 to be NOAEL.
Sub-chronic Developmental study	rat	Maternal BW gain, 'transient' skeletal variations in pups	30	200	PMRA (2001a, 2007a)
Sub-chronic (90 days)	rat	Kidney toxicity, lesions with clear dose-response	1.7	17.6	PMRA (2001a; 2007a). CaDPR (2008).
Sub-chronic Neurotoxicity (90 days)	rat	No effects seen	95	>95	EU (2006), PMRA (2001a), CaDPR (2008). No indication of neurotoxicity
Sub-chronic (28 days)	rat	Kidney toxicity (but effects may be reduced at higher dose)	8.0	81.7	PMRA (2001a; 2007a). CaDPR (2008).
Sub-chronic (90 days)	mouse	Liver toxicity in males	1.4	14.3	EU (2006), PMRA (2001a; 2007a), CaDPR (2008)
Sub-chronic Developmental study	rabbit	Reduced fetal weight, delayed ossification and increased post-implantation loss	50	150	EU (2006). Effects seen at maternally-toxic doses only. Used as departure point in EU acute reference dose (EFSA 2009b). PMRA (2001a) notes maternal NOAEL of 10 mg/kg/ day in range-finding study; CaDPR (2008) gives maternal NOAEL of 15 mg/kg/day

Summary of industry mammalian studies with thiamethoxam.

Sub-chronic (90 days)	dog	Haematology, ovary and testis effects	8.2	32	EU (2006), PMRA (2001a; 2007a), USEPA (2011). CaDPR (2008) considers 32 to be NOAEL.
Sub-chronic (28 days)	dog	Food consumption, BW, haematology, thymus, thyroid, brain, liver and spleen changes	31.6	43	PMRA (2001a; 2007a), CaDPR (2008)
Chronic (2 years)	rat	Kidney toxicity	21	63	PMRA (2001a), CaDPR (2008)
Chronic (2 generations)	rat	Testicular atrophy in F1	0.6	1.8	PMRA (2001a; 2007a) reports F1 testicular effect; EU (2006) reports 62 as NOAEL.
Chronic (2 generations)	rat	Sperm number, testis weight in F1	1.6 (1.2)	3.0	PMRA (2007a) (repeat study). PMRA (2007a) proposes combined NOAEL of 1.2 mg/kg/ day (given 1.8 and 3.0 LOAELs) as departure point to calculate allowable daily intakes. CaDPR (2008) had initially dismissed testicular findings but nevertheless had derived a similar NOAEL of 1.3 mg/kg/ day based on reduced pup weight.
Chronic (18 months)	mouse	Liver toxicity	2.6	64	EU (2006) uses this endpoint in the calculation of allowable daily intake, PMRA (2001a: 2007a).
Chronic (1 year)	dog	Effects on testes, haematology	4.0	21	EU (2006), PMRA (2001a; 2007a), CaDPR (2008).

Appendix III

Endpoint	Species	Effect	NOAEL (mg/kg/	LOAEL (mg/kg/	Source and notes
classification			day)	day)	
Acute (1 dose) Neurotoxicity	mouse	Decreased motor activity, tremors, deep respirations	25	50	USEPA (2003; 2011). PMRA (2004). Retained as endpoint for acute risk assessment by those regulators
Acute (Neurotoxicity)	rat	Neurotox panel, decreased motor and locomotor activity	60	100	USEPA (2003), PMRA (2004). NOAEL from separate study. Note that the LD50 is reported to be >5000 mg/kg.
Sub-chronic Developmental study	rat	Maternal decreased BW gain and food consumption	10	40	USEPA (2003), PMRA (2004), EU (2005). Developmental NOAEL >125 mg/kg/day
Sub-chronic (90 days)	rat	Decreased BW and BW gain	27.9	202	USEPA (2003), Tanaka (2012)
Sub-chronic Neurotoxicity	rat	Food consumption, BW and BW gain	60	177	USEPA (2003), PMRA (2004). No evidence of neurotoxicity.
Developmental neurotoxicity	rat	Decreased BW and BW gain in pups, startle habituation, motor activity, surface righting, brain histometry findings	12.9	42.9	USEPA (2003), PMRA (2004), EU (2005), Tanaka (2012)
Sub-chronic (28 days)	rat	Food consumption and BW gain	120	228	PMRA (2004)
Sub-chronic (90 days)	rat	BW and BW gain; Liver enzymes	27.9	202	PMRA (2004)
Sub-chronic (28 days)	mouse	Food consumption, lung toxicity	<90	90	PMRA (2004)
Sub-chronic Developmental study	rabbit	Mortality, BW, abortion etc in dams, lung terata in pups	25	75	USEPA (2003), PMRA (2004).
Sub-chronic (90 days)	dog	Thinness, decreased body weight, body weight gain and anemia (one male); decreased white blood cells, albumin, and total protein (female).	19.3	40.9	USEPA (2003), Tanaka (2012)
Sub-chronic (28 days)	dog	Mortality; organ and blood toxicity	34.3	36.9	PMRA (2004)
Chronic (2 years)	rat	BW and food consumption, liver and kidney toxicity,	27	82	PMRA (2004)

Summary of industry mammalian studies with clothianidin.

Chronic (2 generations)	rat	Decreased BW gain, delayed sexual maturation, decreased thymus weight in F1 and increased stillbirths.	9.8	31.2	USEPA (2003; 2011). PMRA (2004). EU (2005). Retained as endpoint for chronic assessments. Noted as NAOEL 10.7 mg/kg/ day by Tanaka 2012 for Japanese regulatory review and amended to NOAEL of 11.5 mg/ kg/day and LOAEL of 36.8 by PMRA (2016a).
Chronic (78 weeks)	mouse	Behaviour (vocalisations), BW and BW gain	47	171	PMRA (2004)
Chronic (1 year)	dog	Anemia	40.1	52.9	USEPA (2003), PMRA (2004)

Appendix IV

Endpoint	Species	Effect	NOAEL (mg/kg/	LOAEL (mg/kg/	Source and notes
classification			day)	day)	
Acute (1 dose) (Neurotoxicity)	Rat	Reduced locomotor activity	10	30	EU (2004a) (Note: LD50 given as 314 mg/kg). USEPA (2002) notes that range-finding study noted drop in body temperature at NOAEL. PMRA (2002) gives LD50 for female as 146 mg/kg with clinical signs at 80 mg/ kg. Reduced motor activity persists for 14 days.
Sub-chronic Developmental study	rat	BW and BW gain reductions, liver toxicity in dams; skeletal terata (rib shortening) in pups.	16	50	USEPA (2002), PMRA (2002)
Sub-chronic (90 days)	rat	Liver toxicity, BW and BW gain, food consumption	12.4	50.8	EU (2004a), EFSA (2013), USEPA (2002). PMRA (2002).
Sub-chronic Neurotoxicity	rat	Reduced BW and food consumption, efficiency (No neuropathology shown – surprising in light of acute results)	14.8	59.7	EU (2004a), USEPA (2002), PMRA (2002)
Developmental neurotoxicity	rat	Reduced startle response in pups. Effects at higher doses (45 mg/kg) include reduced viability and changes in brain morphology	2.5	10	PMRA (2010) (Notes that maternal NOAEL is 10 mg/kg/day). The pup NOAEL is used as departure endpoint for risk assessments. EFSA (2013) concurs.
Sub-chronic (90 days)	mouse	Reduced BW and BW gain, reduced organ weight, blood chemistry	106	211	USEPA (2002), PMRA (2002)
Sub-chronic Developmental study	rabbit	Maternal BW and food consumption; no developmental toxicity seen (NOAEL of 30 mg/kg/day)	15	30	USEPA (2002), PMRA (2002)
Sub-chronic (28 days)	dog	BW gain	16.7	28.0	PMRA (2002)
Sub-chronic (90 days)	dog	BW gain, food consumption	13	32	USEPA (2002), PMRA (2002)
Chronic (2 years)	rat	Liver and kidney toxicity, BW and BW gain	7.1	17.5	EU (2004a), EFSA (2013), USEPA (2002), PMRA (2002)

Summary of industry mammalian studies with acetamiprid.

Chronic (2 generations)	rat	Reduced postnatal survival and decreased pup weight at parental toxic doses	6.5	18	EU (2004a). USEPA (2002) notes that foetal deaths at 17.9 mg/kg/day might be treatment-related but opt for this value as the NOAEL. Record makes note of possible endocrine effects (vaginal opening, preputial separation) at higher dose of 51 mg/ kg. PMRA (2002) also opt for higher NOAEL of 18 mg/kg/day.
Chronic (78 weeks)	mouse	BW and BW gain, amyloidosis in numerous organs (males)	20	66	USEPA (2002). PMRA (2002) gives NOAEL as 66 mg/kg/day.
Chronic (1 year)	dog	BW and BW gain, organ weight changes attributed to reduced food consumption	20	55	USEPA (2002), PMRA (2002)

Appendix V

Endpoint	Species	Effect	NOAEL (mg/kg/	LOAEL (mg/kg/	Source and notes
classification			day)	day)	
Acute (Neurotoxicity)	rat	Decreased motor and locomotor activity (females)	3.1	11	(Note: LD50 reported in EU 2004b to range between 396-836 mg/kg depending on study and sex). 11 mg/ kg reported as NOAEL for males with LOAEL of 21 mg/kg. PMRA (2007b) uses this value as point of departure for acute reference doses
Acute (4 daily doses during gestation	rat	BW, increased stillbirths	<35	35	PMRA (2007b)
Sub-chronic Developmental study	rat	BW, uterus wt., resorption and abortion in dams; multiple terata in pups	10	50	PMRA (2007b)
Sub-chronic (90 days)	rat	Liver and thyroid histopathology	7.3	28.6	EU (2004b), PMRA (2007b)
Sub-chronic Neurotoxicity	rat	Food consumption, grip strength	24	101	
Developmental neurotoxicity	rat	Decreased BW and BW gain in dams, decreased weight and delayed sexual maturation in male pups.	4.4	26	PMRA (2007b)
Sub-chronic (14 days)	rat	Chavwnges to liver surface (lobulation), enzyme induction, BW gain (Special study to look at liver and thyroid toxicity)	2.3	9.6	PMRA (2007b) (Effects noted at NOEL but considered non- adverse)
Sub-chronic (14 days)	rat	BW gain, liver histopathology (Special gavage study to look at liver and thyroid toxicity)	20	60	PMRA (2007b)
Sub-chronic (21 days)	rat	Thyroid and liver toxicity (Special study to look at liver and thyroid toxicity)	9.0	36.9	PMRA (2007b)
Sub-chronic (21 days)	mouse	Increased liver weight and enzyme induction	30	368	PMRA (2007b)
Sub-chronic (90 days)	mouse	Increased severity of fatty vacuolation of the adrenal X-zone (in females)	18	27	PMRA (2007b) (NOAEL obtained from separate study)
Sub-chronic Developmental study	rabbit	BW, abnormal urination and defecation in parent; decreased BW of female foetuses	2.0	10	PMRA (2007b)

Summary of industry mammalian studies with thiacloprid.

Sub-chronic (35 days)	dog	Decreased food consumption, BW (females), liver, prostate, thyroid hormone titer.	9.6	66	PMRA (2007b)
Sub-chronic (105 days)	dog	Liver, testes and prostate affected	<8.5	8.5	PMRA (2007b)
Chronic (2 years)	rat	Liver and thyroid histopathology, nervous system degeneration, carcinogenicity	1.2	2.5	EU (2004b), PMRA (2007b). Both regulators propose endpoint for chronic intake calculations.
Chronic (1 generation)	rat	clinical signs, BW gain, liver and thyroid weights in dams; reduced viability and number of pups	20	69	
Chronic (2 generations)	rat	Difficult births (dystocia), liver and thyroid toxicity in dams; reduced pup weight and viability.	2.7 (3.5)	21	EU (2004b), PMRA (2007b) had slightly different calculated NOAEL of 3.5 mg/kg/ day
Chronic (78 weeks)	mouse	Liver and lymph node histology, ovary tumors	5.7	234	PMRA (2007b)
Chronic (1 year)	dog	Liver, prostate, kidney histology	8.3	33.8	PMRA (2007b)





350 Michael Cowpland Dr Kanata, Ontario K2M 2W1